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INTRODUCTORY SECTION 



 Message from the Mayor 
 
 
I am pleased to welcome you to the 2019 Annual Financial Report of 
the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo. The pages ahead highlight 
the Municipality’s key areas of focus and shine a spotlight on the 
services and projects that support a high quality of life for residents 
across the region.  
 
The Municipality’s actions continue to be guided by the 2018-2021 
Strategic Plan and we made significant progress on our priorities over 
the course of the year. With respect to responsible government and 
fiscal responsibility, we maintained the lowest property tax rates in the 
province while significantly reducing the budget and continuing our 
commitment to industry and the local economy. We conducted 
extensive public engagement on downtown revitalization and 
supported regional economic development through a new E-
Procurement program and various capital projects, including rural 
water and sewer servicing, flood mitigation and road rehabilitation. We 
also followed through on our commitment to build rural and Indigenous partnerships with 
initiatives such as the Truth and Reconciliation sharing circles, the creation of the Reconciliation 
Advisory Circle, and improvements to water infrastructure in Fort Chipewyan.   
 
In 2019, we maintained a strong focus on the promotion of local quality of life. This was evident 
in the adoption of the Wood Buffalo Culture Plan with its commitment to invest in arts and 
heritage initiatives for the next decade, as well as in the creation of both the Vulnerable Persons 
Registry and Good Neighbour campaign. It was further reflected in the continued support of 
community-building partnerships through such measures as the Community Investment 
Program (CIP) and vital community facilities including those operated by the Regional 
Recreation Corporation throughout Wood Buffalo. These strong partnerships support the 
regional economy, promote tourism and attract major events like the 2022 Arctic Winter Games. 
  
I would like to extend a sincere thank-you to my Council colleagues and Administration for their 
hard work in ensuring that the Municipality is financially strong and well-positioned to make the 
best of the challenges and opportunities ahead. Once again, thank you for your interest in the 
2019 Annual Financial Report and for working together to create a vibrant and sustainable 
region that we are proud to call home. 
 
All the best, 
 

 
 
Don Scott, QC 
Mayor 
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo 
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        Message from the CAO 
  

I am pleased to present the 2019 Annual Financial Report on behalf 
of the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo (RMWB) Administration. 
This report provides details about the RMWB’s financial performance 
and demonstrates our commitment to fiscal responsibility while 
making investments in the region that create a high-quality of life for 
residents and support the local economy.  
 
With a mission of delivering excellence every day, the work that was 
led by Council and undertaken by Municipal staff in 2019 advanced 
the region’s four key priorities outlined in the 2018-2021 RMWB 
Strategic Plan: Responsible Government, Downtown Revitalization, 
Regional Economic Development and Indigenous and Rural 
Communities and Partnerships. 

Under the priority of Responsible Government, fiscal responsibility is 
identified as a critical achievement for successful execution of the 
Strategic Plan. Through the development and implementation of cost 
efficiencies and zero-based budgeting, the 2019 Municipal budget 

was reduced by $20 million and all committed drawn debt was repaid. In addition, the RMWB maintained 
the lowest property tax rates in Alberta while reducing the tax ratio between the highest non-residential 
and lowest residential tax rate. This speaks to the hard work and dedication of Municipal staff as they 
worked diligently to reduce costs and adhere to the Municipal budget. 

Having a strong fiscal management strategy has allowed the Municipality to make significant investments 
into the region. These investments include the Rural Water and Sewer Servicing (RWSS) program that 
gives many residents in rural communities access to piped water and sewer for the first time. It also 
includes investments in our world class recreation facilities and the $15 million of direct funding provided 
to local non-profit organizations in 2019 to support recreational, cultural and social programs. We work 
hard to balance investments into the region with the integral funding needed to support the core services 
residents rely on every day. This balanced approach ensures a high-quality of life and continued growth. 

As we move forward together, it is important to ensure Municipal projects and programs meet the needs 
and wants of the community members we serve. In 2019, a robust downtown revitalization public 
engagement campaign was undertaken, and we established the Downtown Revitalization Advisory 
Committee as well as the Waterfront Advisory Committee. The feedback we received from residents and 
the strategic recommendations from these two committees is being used to guide decision making and 
shape important initiatives. By managing finances prudently, the RMWB is well positioned to continue 
making significant and strategic investments to enhance the waterfront and rejuvenate downtown Fort 
McMurray. We are pleased with the progress we have made in these areas and truly excited for what the 
future holds. 

We would like to thank you for your interest in the 2019 Annual Financial report and entrust the 
information will showcase our continued commitment to fiscal responsibility while making strategic 
investments in the region. Through continued collaboration with industry, Indigenous and community 
partners, we are confident that Wood Buffalo will continue be a vibrant, sustainable region we are proud 
to call home.   

 
Jamie Doyle 
Chief Administrative Officer 
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo   
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 Director, Financial Services 
 Report 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 
 
June 25, 2020 
 
I am pleased to submit the Financial Report for the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo’s fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2019.  The Municipality’s consolidated financial results include the 
following entities under the control of the Municipality: 
 Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Library Board, 
 Regional Recreation Corporation of Wood Buffalo,  
 Wood Buffalo Housing and Development Corporation and 
 Wood Buffalo Economic Development Corporation 

 Focusing on fiscally responsible budgeting practices, the Municipality is able to deliver a series of 
projects, programs and services that enhance the quality of life for its residents and their families, 
while creating a vibrant, sustainable region. The financial statements summarize the financial results 
of these activities and entities.   
The audited financial statements, and supplementary financial schedules have been prepared by 
municipal staff in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.  
These statements were audited by Deloitte LLP and express an opinion as to whether the financial 
statements prepared by management present fairly the financial position of the Municipality as at 
December 31, 2019. 
Management maintains systems of internal budgetary and accounting controls that provide 
assurance for safeguarding of assets and the reliability of information.  These systems are monitored 
and evaluated by management on a regular basis in keeping with best practices in public and 
financial administration. 

The Municipality is in a good financial position and is putting measures in place to ensure future 
sustainability.  Steps towards this goal include the repayment of $265 million of Municipal debt and 
annual contributions to a reserve dedicated to fund capital projects for current and future 
infrastructure needs.  This continued capital investment is shown with the increase of the net book 
value of tangible capital assets by $87 million in 2019, while overall net financial assets increased by 
$196 million in 2019. 

  
 Since 2015, the Municipality has been experiencing a downturn in the economy. In response, and to 

ensure the sustainability of the Municipality, a zero-based budgeting approach was adopted with a 
concentration on savings and efficiencies. This focus continues to form our budget reduction 
strategy, which balances service to the community while maintaining the financial health and 
sustainability of the Municipality. 
 
 
 
Linda Ollivier, CPA, CMA 
Director, Financial Services 
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo  
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Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
 
The Government Finance Officers 
Association of the United States 
and Canada (GFOA) awarded the 
Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting to the Regional 
Municipality of Wood Buffalo for its 
annual financial report for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2018.  
The Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting program was 
established to encourage municipal 
governments throughout Canada 
to publish high quality financial 
reports and to provide peer 
recognition and technical guidance 
for officials preparing these reports. 
 
In order to be awarded a Canadian 
Award for Financial Reporting, a 
government unit must publish an 
easily readable and efficiently 
organized annual financial report, 
whose contents conform to 
program standards.  Such reports 
should go beyond the minimum 
requirements of generally accepted 
accounting principles and 
demonstrate an effort to clearly 
communicate the municipal 
government’s financial picture, 
enhance an understanding of 
financial reporting by municipal 
governments, and address user 
needs. 
 
A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe our 
current report continues to conform to the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program 
requirements, and we are submitting it to GFOA. 
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Management Reporting and Control 
 
Financial Governance 
The Financial Statements are prepared by Administration in accordance with Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards and are in conformance with the requirements of the Municipal 
Government Act of the Province of Alberta.  Municipal Council is ultimately responsible for 
approving the Municipality’s budget, appointing the auditor and providing general financial 
authority and oversight.   
 
Budget and Financial Reporting Process 
An annual balanced budget is created each year to illustrate how the Regional Municipality of 
Wood Buffalo plans to meet the public service and  capital needs of its residents.  For the 2019 
budget year, a zero-based methodology was followed whereby all operating budgets were 
completed at the service or program level.  Each service or program started at a zero value; the 
costs were then defined, and this process cumulated into a better understanding of all cost 
drivers needed to deliver the services and programs the citizens required. 
 
The annual budget is comprised of two components – operating and capital.  The Operating 
Budget consists of a one-year operating budget and two years of financial plans.  The Capital 
Budget includes a one-year capital budget and three years of capital plans.  A “modified 
accrual” basis is used for the budget process whereby revenues are recognized in the period 
they are deemed available and measurable to meet or pay for liabilities.  Throughout the year 
amendments, based on a continual variance and projection review, are prepared for both 
operating and capital budgets to reallocate budget funds within each category to ensure the 
efficient administration of service delivery and capital needs. 
 
Accounting Process 
The Municipality is structured by the services provided to its residents – Protective Services, 
Transportation Services, Environmental Use,, Planning and Development Services, Recreation 
and Culture Services, Fiscal Services and General Government Services.  The accounting 
process supports this structure by assisting departments in making effective decisions with the 
use of ad hoc reporting that is developed through analysis, review and recording of business 
transactions.  The development and implementation of long-term financial plans assists in the 
achievement of financial sustainability as well the reporting of variances and preparation of 
forecasting reports based on these plans to support Council and senior management in making 
sound decisions on the behalf of the residents of the Municipality. 
 
Audit Process 
The Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo’s consolidated financial statements are audited 
annually by an independent auditor.  The purpose of the audit is to provide reasonable 
assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatements 
whether caused by fraud or error.  Fraud questionnaires are completed by senior management 
and an assessment of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements is conducted by the audit team to evaluate their design and 
implementation.  Working closely with management, the audit involves examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used, assessing significant estimates made by 
management and evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation.  
Following the comprehensive audit process, Council is presented with a management letter 
prepared by the auditors communicating any significant deficiencies in internal control identified 
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during the audit and an explanation of their potential effects.  The audited consolidated financial 
statements are provided to the Council for their review and acceptance.   
 
Risks and Uncertainty 
The Municipality is committed to an integrated approach to risk management, where it is viewed 
as a key component of sound business practices and due diligence.  Management promotes a 
proactive, corporate-wide, systematic approach to manage risks that could impact Municipal 
objectives. 
 
Environmental Risk 
The Municipality utilizes environmental management professionals to assist departments in 
complying with environmental laws and regulations.  The Municipality has adopted policies and 
procedures to govern the Municipality’s approaches and the organization follows environmental 
systems which provide a sound model to effectively deal with environmental impacts associated 
with municipal activities.  In addition, insurance policies are in place to handle potential 
unexpected environmental exposures. 
 
Infrastructure Replacement 
Municipal infrastructure is necessary to support a community’s quality of life and economy.  The 
Municipality applies long-term construction and maintenance plans and strategies to ensure that 
appropriate local infrastructure is available and continues to meet the Municipality’s needs.  
When the Municipality identifies infrastructure requirements that exceed its funding capacity, 
Municipal Council utilizes prioritization and looks for alternative sources of funding like 
government transfers.  If not addressed, the Municipality’s infrastructure deficit could cause 
decreased quality of life, damage to property and loss in productivity. 
 
Insurance Exposures 
The Municipality maintains an insurance program to cover losses related to its activities, 
operations, assets and infrastructure.  This program has three components: a self-insured 
retention budget for all losses falling below policy deductibles, a municipal reciprocal insurance 
exchange where our subscriber group insures each other for medium size losses, and finally an 
insurance program purchased through well capitalized external insurers to cover for losses in 
excess of the two underlying deductibles. The Municipality’s approach to risk management 
attempts to achieve a balance between insurance risk management and total costs. 
 
Normal Operational Risk 
In the usual course of business, the Municipality is exposed to various risks that are mitigated 
through operational and financial controls.  These risks include the normal operational risks 
associated with each of the Municipality’s programs and services, as well as social, legal, 
regulatory and economic issues or changes that could impact Municipal operations, investment 
risk related to volatile financial markets and human resource availability and costs. 
 
Certain financial information is also prepared using estimates and judgments that are based on 
careful assessments through the Municipality’s management and information systems.  The 
Municipality maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance as to the 
fairness and reliability of that information and data.  These control systems are regularly 
reviewed and enhanced as required to ensure the production of timely, accurate and complete 
financial information to protect and safeguard Municipal assets. 
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Revenue Volatility 
Certain categories of revenue are exposed to economic or other fluctuations.  These include 
revenues related to interest, user fees/charges, government transfers, development permits, 
etc.  To address the challenge associated with revenue volatility, the Municipality employs 
conservative budgeting practices and monthly variance forecasting as well as monitoring of the 
financial market. 
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Financial Highlights 
 
Financial Trend Summary 2019 
 
The financial data below provides an overview of the key financial information over the past two 
years.  Readers should read this section in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Note Disclosures. 
 

 
  

Consolidated Financial Position 2019 2018
Assets 1,296,148,038             1,373,142,997         
Liabilities 279,080,209                551,923,819            
Net financial assets 1,017,067,829             821,219,178            
Non-financial assets 10,307,671                  8,839,930                 
Net tangible capital assets 4,302,598,396             4,216,459,520         
Total non-financial assets 4,312,906,067             4,225,299,450         
Accumulated surplus 5,329,973,896             5,046,518,628         

Revenues by Function 2019 2018
Fiscal Services 660,588,731                685,414,384            
General Government 131,532,222                164,097,558            
Protective Services 17,391,337                  22,645,585               
Transportation 4,546,229                    3,592,576                 
Environmental Use and Protection 42,087,306                  44,361,631               
Public Health and Welfare 3,078,609                    2,783,985                 
Planning and Development 1,564,202                    2,315,056                 
Recreation and Culture 265,596                       953,330                    
Subsidiary Entities 52,089,991                  69,373,239               
Total Revenues by Function 913,144,223                995,537,344            

Expenses by Function 2019 2018
Fiscal Services 7,350,484                    (1,911,041)               
General Government 166,218,634                145,046,949            
Protective Services 85,036,346                  86,787,698               
Transportation 114,847,161                111,071,997            
Environmental Use and Protection 98,198,158                  93,760,042               
Public Health and Welfare 28,072,473                  26,998,025               
Planning and Development 14,882,903                  16,245,897               
Recreation and Culture 64,999,533                  55,042,028               
Subsidiary Entities 50,283,263                  52,853,487               
Total Expenses by Function 629,888,955                585,895,082            

Annual Surplus (Deficit) by Function 2019 2018
Fiscal Services 653,238,247                687,325,425            
General Government (34,686,412)                 19,050,609               
Protection Services (67,645,009)                 (64,142,113)             
Transportation (110,300,932)               (107,479,421)           
Environmental Use and Protection (56,110,852)                 (49,398,411)             
Public Health and Welfare (24,993,864)                 (24,214,040)             
Planning and Development (13,318,701)                 (13,930,841)             
Recreation and Culture (64,733,937)                 (54,088,698)             
Subsidiary Entities 1,806,728                    16,519,752               
Total Annual Surplus by Function 283,255,268                409,642,262            
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Revenues – Actual vs Budget 
 
The 2019 actual revenues of $913 million are $89 million more than 2019 budgeted revenues of 
$824 million.  This increase is from: 

• $13 million increase in net taxes resulting primarily from lower appeals realized, 
• $55 million increase from budget recognized in government transfers with $34 million 

stemming from capital grants as a result of timing on spending of capital funding 
previously deferred, combined with an operating grant increase resulting primarily from 
unbudgeted Disaster Recovery Funds recognized of $20 million, 

• $3 million increase in sales and user charges includes $2 million from unbudgeted 
insurance recovery funds received from the wildfire event and $1 million from 
reimbursement of guard services at the RCMP Cell Block and 

• $18 million increase in other revenues mainly stemming from increased investment 
income due to change in investment strategies resulting in favorable market rates ($7 
million), unbudgeted revenues including developer agreements and levies spent on 
capital projects ($3 million), contributed assets ($3 million), Red Cross grant funding for 
wildfire related projects ($1 million) and gains on disposals of assets ($1 million). 
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Revenues – 2019 vs 2018 Actuals 
 
The 2019 actual revenues of $913 are $82 million lower than the 2018 actual revenues of $995 
million.  This decrease in 2019 is primarily attributed to: 

• $26 million decrease in net tax due to lower non-residential and machinery and 
equipment taxes as a result of savings achieved from zero-based budgeting, 

• $28 million decrease in government transfers includes $20 million of grant funding 
applied to long term debt in a subsidiary entity as a one-time transaction in 2018 and $8 
million in lower grant spending towards the wildfire,  

• $3 million increase in sales and user charges from additional events and hospitality 
sales by a subsidiary entity and 

• $31 million decrease in other revenues from decreased developers’ agreements and 
levies income due to timing of capital project work ($18 million), lower contributed assets 
($3 million) and various one-time transactions in 2018 including sale of lands that were 
not capitalized ($3 million), insurance proceeds for wildfire business interruption ($3 
million), and Red Cross funding for wildfire rebuilding permits not charged to residents 
($2 million). 
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Expenses – Actual vs Budget 
 
The 2019 actual expenses of $630 million are $189 million over the 2019 budgeted expenses of 
$441 million. This increase in expenses is driven by: 

• $124 million increase in amortization which is not budgeted due to its non-cash nature, 
• $28 million increase in contracted and general services mainly from capital project items 

transferred to operations ($12 million), wildfire recovery costs ($11 million) and 
carryforward spending budgeted in prior years ($3 million),  

• $5 million decrease in salaries, wages and benefits from a reduction in overtime 
spending and vacant positions,  

• $1 million increase in materials, goods, supplies and utilities as a result of increased 
electricity and inventory usage and 

• $41 million increase in other expenses resulting from the early payment of Municipal 
debt ($30 million), increased property tax allowance based on overdue tax accounts ($7 
million) and additional funding to local non-profit organizations ($7 million), partially 
offset by a recovery of general trade allowances ($3 million). 
  

The budget to actual differences impacts the segments with over budgeted expenses in fiscal 
services ($7 million), general government ($57 million), protective services ($1 million), 
transportation ($42 million), environmental use and protection ($47 million), public health and 
welfare ($1 million), recreation and culture ($30 million) and subsidiary entities ($6 million) which 
are partially offset by under budgeted segment expenses in planning and development ($2 
million).  
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Expenses – 2019 vs 2018 Actuals  
 
The 2019 actual expenses of $630 million are $44 million higher than the 2018 actual expenses 
of $586 million.  This increase in 2019 is primarily attributed to: 

• $5 million increase in salaries, wages and benefits include wage adjustments from 
collective bargaining agreements ($3 million) and 2019 represented the first complete 
year of operations of a subsidiary entity ($2 million), 

• $9 million decrease in contracted and general services is mainly from reduced spending 
for DRP recovery work in 2019,  

• $3 million increase in materials, goods, supplies and utilities from additional direct costs 
associated with increased events and hospitality sales by a subsidiary entity, 

• $4 million increase in amortization of tangible capital assets and  
• $41 million increase in other expenses due to the early payment of Municipal debt ($30 

million), additional funding to local non-profit organizations ($7 million) and increased 
provision for allowances primarily from overdue tax accounts ($7 million), partially offset 
by lower interest on long-term debt ($2 million) and reduced purchases from other 
governments ($2 million). 
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Tangible Capital Assets 
 
The single largest item in the non-financial assets section is tangible capital assets which ended 
2019 with a balance of $4.303 billion, which is an increase of $87 million from the 2018 balance 
of $4.216 billion.   
 
Tangible capital assets are assets managed and held for use in the production or supply of 
goods and services with economic lives that extend beyond a year and are not for sale in the 
ordinary course of operations. The most significant tangible capital asset investments in 2019 
were for Rural Water and Sewer Servicing ($31 million), Thickwood Perimeter Sewer ($20 
million) and Transit Facility ($15 million) projects. 
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Municipal Long-Term Debt 

During 2019, $265 million of Municipal Long-Term Debt was fully repaid. No new borrowing 
occurred in 2019. 

In 2019, the Municipality is not utilizing any of its $1.6 billion available debt limit and $280 million 
available debt service limit.  
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Audited Financial Statements 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Mayor and members of Council of the  
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo (the 
“Municipality”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, 
and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Municipality as at December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations, changes in its net 
financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards (“PSAS”). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian 
GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Municipality in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with PSAS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Municipality’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Municipality or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Municipality’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

Deloitte LLP 
10180 101 Street NW 
Suite 1500 
Manulife Place 
Edmonton AB  T5J 4K1 

Tel: 780-421-3611 
Fax: 780-421-3782 
www.deloitte.ca 

23



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Municipality’s internal control.

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Municipality’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Municipality to cease
to continue as a going concern.

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Municipality to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
May 27, 2020 
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Budget 2019 2018

(Note 24)

Revenue:
Net taxes available for municipal purposes (Note 16) 643,707,700$     657,278,601$      683,338,605$      
Government transfers for operating (Note 17) 22,413,555    44,180,489     50,943,150      
Sales and user charges (Note 23) 61,435,792    63,817,902     60,960,237      
Sales to other governments 2,441,500      3,193,453       2,609,849        
Penalties and costs on taxes 4,182,000      4,372,602       5,290,963        
Licenses and permits 2,193,108      2,018,676       4,919,468        
Fines 3,099,745      2,647,260       3,603,273        
Franchise and concession contracts 8,300,000      8,184,926       7,875,171        
Returns on investments 24,156,826    31,342,868     23,944,476      
Rentals 18,785,211    19,614,508     19,984,121      
Developers' agreements and levies - 2,691,857 21,017,127      
Other 5,028,117      7,553,667 14,294,515      
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - 963,590 7,346,931        

795,743,554  847,860,399   906,127,886    

Expenses (Note 18):
Council and other legislative 1,555,361      1,283,948       1,054,658        
General administration 75,805,529    132,778,825   96,840,030      
Other general government 36,786,571    34,984,313     45,422,872      
Police 35,627,606    34,508,288     35,584,449      
Fire 29,343,567    32,315,684     32,522,008      
Disaster and emergency measures 847,245 690,677  1,443,045        
Ambulance and first aid 9,356,628      11,041,296     8,322,175        
Bylaws enforcement 8,899,054      6,480,401       8,913,344        
Common and equipment pool 22,085,848    23,403,506     24,086,672      
Roads, streets, walks, lighting 30,743,545    58,479,680     53,805,227      
Public transport 19,347,585    28,861,839     29,460,935      
Storm sewers and drainage 436,749 4,102,136       3,718,164        
Water supply and distribution 20,234,766    42,476,013     41,205,462      
Wastewater treatment and disposal 16,648,257    36,787,714     36,606,600      
Waste management 14,721,818    18,735,066     15,947,981      
Family and community support 8,297,446      9,173,599       10,648,221      
Cemeteries and crematoriums 399,188 427,238  851,135  
Land use planning, zoning and development 12,736,996    10,561,638     11,431,675      
Public housing operations 22,771,344    32,618,483     33,068,050      
Land, housing and building rentals 3,984,488      4,321,265       4,811,075        
Recreation boards 50,000   34,751    40,777    
Parks and recreation 65,352,911    99,518,727     84,310,172      
Culture:  libraries, museums, halls 5,421,485      6,103,868       5,800,355        

441,453,987  629,688,955   585,895,082    

Annual surplus before other 354,289,567  218,171,444   320,232,804    
Other:

Contributions of tangible capital assets - 3,102,354 6,167,889          
Government transfers for capital (Note 17) 28,583,333    62,181,470 83,241,569      

Annual surplus 382,872,900     283,455,268      409,642,262      

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 5,046,518,628    5,046,518,628     4,636,876,366     

Accumulated surplus, end of year 5,429,391,528$  5,329,973,896$   5,046,518,628$   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Budget 2019 2018
 

(Note 24)

Annual surplus 382,872,900$    283,455,268$      409,642,262$   

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (256,680,449)     (207,232,735)       (159,456,809) 
Contributions of tangible capital assets - (3,102,354) (6,167,889)   
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - (963,590) (7,346,931)   
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 124,099,235 120,346,122    
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 1,060,568 8,787,641  

126,192,451   197,316,392    365,804,396    

(Acquisition) use of consumable inventories - (1,545,063) 1,720,604  
Use (acquisition) of prepaid expenses - 77,322 (1,154,259)   

- (1,467,741) 566,345   

Increase in net financial assets 126,192,451   195,848,651 366,370,741    

Net financial assets, beginning of year 821,219,178   821,219,178 454,848,437    

Net financial assets, end of year 947,411,629$    1,017,067,829$   821,219,178$   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

2019 2018

Cash provided by (used in): 
Operating:

Annual surplus 283,455,268$   409,642,262$   
Non-cash items included in annual surplus

Amortization of tangible capital assets 124,099,235   120,346,122   
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (963,590)  (7,346,931) 
Contributions of tangible capital assets (3,102,354) (6,167,889) 
Valuation adjustment to mortgages and notes receivable 295,445  - 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities:
Taxes and grants in lieu receivable 749,939  (2,898,519) 
Trade and other receivables 50,489,975   (18,569,596) 
Inventories held for resale 1,049,480   1,599,076   
Consumable inventories (1,545,063) 1,720,604   
Prepaid expenses 77,322  (1,154,259) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,693,767   (25,807,236) 
Deposit liabilities (55,856)  213,648  
Deferred revenue (16,967,454) (48,585,153) 
Employee benefit obligations (1,001,680) 149,959  
Contaminated sites liability 88,695  1,187,126   
Provision for landfill closure and post-closure costs 3,449,284   735,621  

Cash provided by operating transactions 450,812,413   425,064,835   

Capital:
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 1,060,568   8,787,641   
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (207,232,735) (159,456,809) 

Cash applied to capital transactions (206,172,167) (150,669,168) 

Investing:
Decrease in mortgages and notes receivable 322,072  47,756  
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash (670,522)  19,324,158   
Decrease (increase) in investments 290,714,589   (187,235,984) 

Cash applied to investing transactions 290,366,139   (167,864,070) 

Financing:
Long-term debt repaid (269,050,366) (39,999,567) 

Cash applied to financing transactions (269,050,366) (39,999,567) 

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year 265,956,019   66,532,030   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 112,728,560   46,196,530   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 378,684,579$   112,728,560$   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

The Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo (the Municipality) is a municipality in the Province of Alberta, 
Canada and operates under the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A., 2000, c.M-26, as 
amended (MGA). 

1. Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of the Municipality are prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Municipality are as follows:

(a) Reporting entity

(i) Consolidated entities

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and
accumulated surplus of the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of entities whose
operations and assets are under the control of the Municipality.  In addition to general municipal
tax supported operations, they include:

Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Library Board
Wood Buffalo Housing & Development Corporation
Regional Recreation Corporation of Wood Buffalo
Wood Buffalo Economic Development Corporation

Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances have been eliminated.

(ii) Other boards and commissions

The Municipality is a member of various other boards and commissions that are not included in
the reporting entity.

(iii) Alberta School Foundation Fund and School Boards

The note for net taxes available for municipal purposes includes requisitions for the Alberta
School Foundation Fund and School Boards that are not part of the reporting entity.

(iv) Trust funds

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the Municipality are not included in
these consolidated financial statements.

(b) Basis of accounting

The Municipality follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses.  Revenues
are recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable.  Funds from external parties
and earnings thereon restricted by agreement or legislation are accounted for as deferred revenue
until used for the purpose specified.

Property tax revenue is based on approved annual budget and requisition requirements.  Property
tax assessment is based on either the market value or regulated value legislated standard as
prescribed in the MGA.  The market value standard is based on the market value of properties as of
July 1st of the preceding year.  The regulated value standard is based on rates and procedures
prescribed by Alberta Municipal Affairs.  Assessments are subject to appeal.

Construction and borrowing costs associated with local improvement projects are recovered through
annual special assessments during the period of the related borrowings.  These levies are
collectible from property owners for work performed by the Municipality.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of accounting (continued)

Local improvement levies represent funds from external parties that are restricted by legislation and
are accounted for as deferred revenue until the special assessments are authorized by Council,
issued to the property owners, and the funds are used for the purpose specified.

Government transfers and grants are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as
revenues in the period that the events giving rise to the transfer occurred, providing the transfers are
authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met by the Municipality, and reasonable estimates of
the amounts can be made. Prior to that time, any amounts received, along with the restricted
interest thereon, are recorded as deferred revenue.

Authorized transfers from the Municipality to other organizations or individuals are recorded as an
expense when the recipients have met the eligibility criteria and the amount can be reasonably
estimated.  The majority of transfers made by the Municipality are in the form of grants or operating
subsidies.

Revenues for the provision of goods or services are recognized in the period in which the goods are
provided, or the services are rendered.  Revenues from sponsorships are recognized over the terms
of the sponsorship agreements.  Rental income is recognized as revenue in the relevant tenancy
period.  Revenues from land and building sales related to inventories held for resale are recognized
when title transfers and all of the rights and responsibilities of ownership have transferred, the price
to the buyer is determinable and collection is reasonably assured.   Amounts received under rights
holder agreements have been deferred and are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over
the 25-year life of the agreements.

Returns on investments are recorded as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the
funding government or related act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to the
investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance.

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from third parties for a specified operating or capital
purpose.  These amounts are recognized as revenue in the period when the related expenses are
incurred.

Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and are measurable as a result of receipt of goods or
services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks, net of overdrafts.

Cash equivalents consist of bank deposits and short-term investments with original term to maturity
of three months or less.

(d) Excess collections and under-levies

Excess collections and under-levies arise from the difference between the actual levy made to cover
each requisition and the actual amount requisitioned. If the actual levy exceeds the requisition, the
excess collection is recorded as a liability and property tax revenue is reduced. Where the actual
levy is less than the requisition amount, the under-levy is recorded as a receivable and property tax
revenue is increased.

Mill-rates in a subsequent year are adjusted for any excess collections or under-levies of the prior
year.

(e) Inventories held for resale

Property and other inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Property
inventory held under equity and affordability programs which have been sold, but where revenue
recognition criteria have not been met, are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Investments

Portfolio investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Investment premiums and discounts are
amortized on a net present value basis over the term of the respective investments.  When there is
a significant impairment, other than a temporary decline, the respective investment is written down
to recognize the loss.

(g) Mortgages and notes receivable

Mortgages and notes receivable are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is determined to be the Wood Buffalo Housing and Development
Corporation's weighted average cost of borrowing at the time the agreement is executed.  The
discount recorded on the mortgages and notes receivable is amortized each year to interest income.
Mortgages and notes receivable are reviewed annually to ensure the amount recoverable is not less
than the amortized cost.  If this is found to be the case, a valuation allowance is used to adjust the
recorded value to the recoverable amounts.

(h) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the
provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

(i) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost, less
residual value, of the tangible assets excluding land are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Annual amortization is charged at 50% in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal. 
Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use.  
Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute 
to the Municipality's ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of the future 
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital asset are less than their net book value. 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of
receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(iii) Tangible capital assets recognized at nominal values

Where an estimate of fair value could not be made, tangible capital assets are recognized at a
nominal value.

(iv) Natural resources

Natural resources that have not been purchased are not recognized as tangible capital assets
in these consolidated financial statements.

Asset Useful Life - Years

Land improvements 5 to 45
Buildings and improvements 5 to 80
Engineered structures 10 to 120
Machinery and equipment 3 to 30
Vehicles 5 to 15
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Non-financial assets (continued)

(v) Works of art and cultural and historic assets

Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets in these
consolidated financial statements.  Any acquisition costs are expensed in the year they are
acquired.

(vi) Capitalization of costs

The Municipality does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or
construction of tangible capital assets.  General and administrative indirect overhead expenses
are not allocated and capitalized.

(vii) Leases

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are accounted for
as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as incurred.

(viii) Consumable inventories

Consumable inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost.

(i) Contaminated sites liability

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or sediment of
a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an environmental
standard.  The liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries.  A liability for remediation of a
contaminated site is recognized when a site is not in productive use and is management's estimate
of the costs attributable to remediation activities including any required post-remediation operations,
maintenance and monitoring.

(j) Landfill closure and post-closure obligation

The Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, Code of Practice for Landfill
Operations in Alberta, and the Standards for Landfills in Alberta set out the regulatory requirements
to properly close and maintain all landfill sites.  Under environmental law, there is a requirement for
closure and post-closure care of solid waste landfill sites. The estimated costs relating to this
requirement are being accrued over the estimated remaining life of the landfill site based on usage.

The reported obligation may be affected by changes and factors such as the estimated total
expenditures, regulatory requirements, inflation, and interest rates.  Due to the inherent uncertainty
involved in making such estimates and assumptions, actual costs reported in future periods could
differ from those estimates.

(k) Employee future benefits

The costs of multi-employer defined benefit pension plan benefits such as Local Authorities Pension
Plan (LAPP) and APEX pension plans are the employer's contributions to the plan in the period.
Health and dental benefits are provided on an administrative service only basis.  The Municipality is
responsible for the employer share of benefit premiums throughout the year.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Management has used estimates to determine employee benefit obligations, landfill closure and
post closure costs, contaminated sites liability, accrued liabilities, provisions for tax assessment
appeals, tangible capital asset useful lives, provision for investment impairment, provisions made for
allowances for taxes and other receivables, inventories, as well as wildfire related trade and other
receivables.

(m) Adoption of new accounting standards

The following summarizes changes to Canadian public sector accounting standards issued by the
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (PSAB) that have been adopted by the Municipality
during the current fiscal year.

(i) Restructuring Transactions

PS3430 Restructuring Transactions establishes standards on how to account for and report
restructuring transactions by both transferors and recipients of assets and/or liabilities.  This
standard is applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2018.

The Municipality has reviewed and adopted this new standard in fiscal 2019.  The adoption of
this standard did not have any impact to the consolidated financial statements.

(n) Recent Accounting Standard Pronouncements

The following summarizes upcoming changes to the Canadian public sector accounting standards
issued by the PSAB.  The Municipality will continue to assess the impact and prepare for the 
adoption of these standards.  While the timing of standard adoption can vary, certain standards 
must be adopted concurrently.  The requirements in the Financial Instruments (PS3450), Foreign 
Currency Translation (PS2601) and Portfolio Investments (PS3041) must be implemented at the 
same time. 

(i) Financial Statement Presentation

PS1201 Financial Statement Presentation requires a new statement of re-measurement gains
and losses separate from the statement of operations.  Included in this new statement are the
unrealized gains and losses arising for the re-measurement of financial instruments and items
denominated in foreign currencies as well as the government’s proportionate share of other
comprehensive income that arises when a government includes the results of government
business enterprises and partnerships.  This standard is applicable for fiscal years beginning
on or after April 1, 2021.

(ii) Foreign Currency Translation

PSAB issued PS2601 Foreign Currency Translation, replacing the current PS2600 applicable
for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.  This standard requires that monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency be adjusted to reflect the exchange
rates in effect at the financial statement date.  Unrealized gains and losses are to be
presented in the new statement of re-measurement gains and losses.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Recent Accounting Standard Pronouncements (continued)

(iii) Financial Instruments

PS3450 Financial Instruments applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021
establishes recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements for derivative and non-
derivative financial instruments.  The standard requires fair value measurement of derivatives
and equity instruments, all other financial instruments can be measured at cost/amortized cost
or fair value at the election of the government.  Unrealized gains and losses are presented in
a new statement of re-measurement gains and losses.  There is the requirement to disclose
the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and clarification is given for
the de-recognition of financial liabilities.

(iv) Portfolio Investments

Section PS3041 Portfolio Investments has removed the distinction between temporary and
portfolio investments.  This section now includes pooled investments in its scope and was
amended to conform to Financial Instruments PS3450 and now includes pooled investments
in its scope.  Upon adoption of PS3450 and PS3041 Temporary Investments PS3030 will no
longer apply.  This standard is applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.

(v) Asset Retirement Obligations

PS3280 establishes standards on how to account for and report a liability for asset retirement
obligations. Specifically, it defines which activities would be included in a liability for retirement
of a tangible capital asset, establishes when to recognize and how to measure a liability for an
asset retirement obligation and provides the related financial statement presentation and
disclosure requirements. This standard applies to fiscal years beginning on or after April 1,
2021.

2. Restricted cash

Restricted cash is comprised of various tenant deposits and reserves required under funding
agreements related to the delivery of affordable housing programs amounting to $15,675,259 (2018 -
$15,004,737).

Under the terms of the mortgage agreements related to affordable housing operations, the Municipality
deposits 4% of the gross income of the related properties into the restricted replacement reserves
account.  This amount is reserved for major capital repairs. Withdrawals require prior approval by the
lender following submission of paid invoices for approved major capital repairs.

3. Taxes and grants in lieu receivable

** levies which were imposed one year or longer prior to year end 

2019 2018

Current 11,677,672$   7,206,128$        
Arrears** 15,079,043     13,306,157        

 26,756,715     20,512,285        
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 17,384,643     10,390,274        

9,372,072$     10,122,011$      
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

4. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables include allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,280,553 (2018 - $9,344,529). 

5. Inventories held for resale

The Municipality holds property inventory for sale under its equity and affordability programs.  During the 
year, the Municipality sold six properties (2018 - five properties), leaving two properties in inventory for 
sale under its equity and affordability programs at the end of the year. 

6. Investments

Bankers acceptances, notes and bonds, bearing interest rates from 1.64% to 1.66% (2018 - 1.63% to 
1.69%) 

Government bonds, government guaranteed bonds and guaranteed investment certificates, bearing 
interest at stated interest rates from 1.15% to 5.60% (2018 - 0.75% to 5.60%). 

Corporate bonds, debentures and mutual funds, bearing interest at stated interest rates from 1.59% to 
4.93% (2018 - 1.40% to 4.937%). 

The market value of certain investments fluctuates with changing market interest rates.  The carrying 
value of certain investments have not been written down to market value because management has 
concluded, based on a review of market information for these investments, there is no obvious indication 
of significant impairment that is other than temporary.  As a result, no write down has occurred in 2019 
and 2018.   

2019 2018

Government transfers 5,934,157$     44,449,958$    
GST recoverable 3,732,335       1,664,023     
Utility receivables 5,420,429       5,415,301     
Developer charges - 2,200,000 
Trade receivables 7,978,599   19,826,213 

23,065,520$   73,555,495$    

2019 2018

Inventories held for resale 271,491$        265,563$        
Property inventory held under equity and affordability programs 269,834         1,325,242    

541,325$        1,590,805$     

Amortized Cost Market Value Amortized Cost Market Value

Cash 12,528,905$       12,528,905$     1,775,430$    1,775,430$       
Bankers acceptances, notes and bonds 4,035,541       4,044,908  2,743,569  2,747,482    
Government bonds, government guaranteed 
  bonds and guaranteed investment certificates
Corporate bonds, debentures and mutual funds 291,282,318   293,231,446    301,989,159    296,325,040   
Accrued interest 4,588,731  4,588,731  9,495,483  9,495,483    

862,450,159$     866,048,332$   1,153,164,748$   1,149,627,463$   

2019 2018

550,014,664    551,654,342  837,161,107    839,284,028   
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

7. Mortgages and notes receivable

The Municipality annually reviews the current market conditions in the region to determine if the market 
value of real estate has declined significantly, affecting the required repayment on loans receivable 
should a sale occur.  If the net book value of loans receivable is no longer representative of the net 
recoverable value after an analysis of the portfolio, an adjustment will be made.  During the year, the 
Municipality recorded a valuation loss related to its mortgage’s receivable of $295,444 ($2018 - $nil). 

2019 2018

2,289,887$        2,642,515$       

1,970,905       2,193,099      

88,265  89,449           

185,340          183,577         

1,824,727       1,868,001      

6,359,124$        6,976,641$       

Net investment in a long-term lease arrangement.

Housing affordability loans, bearing interest at rates ranging from 0% to 6% 
per annum, compounded semi-annually, payable in monthly instalments of 
interest only, repayable when the borrower sells the property, secured by 
vendor take back mortgages on land and buildings and market appreciation 
guarantees. (face value - $5,921,012 (2018 - $6,293,313))

Home equity loans which are non-interest bearing, without monthly repayment 
terms, with principal repayable when the borrower sells the property, secured 
by vendor take back mortgages on land and buildings and market appreciation 
guarantees. (face value - $4,803,426 (2018 - $4,990,555))

Demand promissory notes receivable, bearing interest at 6% per annum, with 
total payments including principal and interest ranging from $153 to $449 per 
month, representing a 25-year amortization period, secured by land and 
buildings in Conklin and Janvier. (face value - $108,264 (2018 - $113,329))

Demand second mortgages receivable, non-interest bearing, with total 
payments and forgiveness ranging from $121 to $240 per month, representing 
a 25-year amortization period, secured by land and buildings in Conklin and 
Janvier. (face value - $226,359 (2018 - $232,001))
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

8. Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue is comprised of the funds noted below, the use of which is externally restricted.  These
funds are recognized as revenue in the period they are used for the purpose specified.  Certain deferred
revenues relate to government transfers as further described in Note 17.

2018

Externally 
restricted 

inflows 
(outflows)

Revenue 
(recognized) 

reallocated 2019

Government transfers

Operating:
   Community Housing Plan (a) 1,837,988$     3,536,489$     (5,373,830)$         647$               

Rent Supplement Program (b) 1,225,059       4,824,489       (4,657,045)       1,392,503       
Sustainable Remote Housing Grant 71,640     -                     (5,040) 66,600   
Emergency Services Grants (c) 64,864     (404)               (37,471) 26,989          
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Grants (d) 341,304          1,526,076       (1,096,224) 771,156        
Community and Regional Economic Support Grant (e) 95,000     -                     (95,000) -    
FireSmart Grant (f) 3,421,233       -                     (2,182,897) 1,238,336       
Victims of Crime Grant (g) 10,631     395,369          (406,000)  -            
Community Inclusion Grant 2,673       -                     (2,673) -            
Coalitions Creating Equity Grant 24,897     61,500   (67,189) 19,208   
Labour Market Partnership Grant 51,000     510        (51,510) -            
Access and Equity Grant - 10,000 - 10,000 
Other Grants (h) 848,558   1,814,869 (2,125,203)       538,224        

7,994,847       12,168,898     (16,100,082)     4,063,663       
Capital: 

Community Development Plan (i) 10,518,387     - (10,518,387) -            
Municipal Sustainability Initiative Grant (j) 13,709,573     16,985,484     (22,243,409) 8,451,648     
Federal Gas Tax Fund Grant (k) 6,477,990       12,702,908     (10,627,871) 8,553,027     
Alberta Affordable Housing Initiative (l) 802,368   22,337      - 824,705 
911 Grant (m) 733,300   504,913    (258,929)          979,284        
South Policing Facility Grant (n) 1,193,846       - (5,000) 1,188,846       
FireSmart Grant - Emergency Response Systems (o) 1,933,340       14,955      (714,406) 1,233,889     
Strategic Transportation Infrastructure Program Grant (p) 394,111          577           (333,113) 61,575          
Green Transit Incentives Program Grants (q) - 17,402,516 (16,472,815)     929,701        
Alberta Community Resilience Program Grant (r) - 6,596,157 - 6,596,157 

35,762,915     54,229,847     (61,173,930)         28,818,832   

43,757,762     66,398,745     (77,274,012)         32,882,495   

Other

Rights Holder Agreements (s) 1,099,200       - (84,800) 1,014,400     
Deferred Property Taxes 25,183,426     23,141,502     (25,183,426)         23,141,502   
Deferred Offsite Levies and Developer Charges (t) 5,345,242       84,545   (2,691,858)           2,737,929     
Deferred Developer Agreements (u) 3,320,398       -       -    3,320,398     
Canadian Red Cross - Recovery Gift Agreement (v) 997,815          4,000,000       (2,954,643)           2,043,172     

425,837          - (295,008) 130,829        
Insurance Proceeds - Wildfire Event (x) 684,059          - (616,809) 67,250          
Lifetime golf and fitness memberships 854,508   2,907,466       (3,172,371) 589,603        
Other 9,434,118       2,075,646       (3,302,431) 8,207,333     

47,344,603     32,209,159     (38,301,346)     41,252,416     

91,102,365$   98,607,904$   (115,575,358)$     74,134,911$   

Canadian Red Cross - Disaster Response Service Agreement (w)
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8. Deferred revenue (continued)

Operating government transfers

(a) Community Housing Plan

The Community Housing Plan is an arrangement where money is received from both the Province
of Alberta and the Government of Canada to assist homeless individuals to obtain housing and
provide support services through funding provided to a number of not-for-profit organizations.
Accruals are set up at the end of each year to record the deferred revenue from the Province of
Alberta and record the trade and other receivable from the Government of Canada.

(b) Rent Supplement Program

The Rent Supplement Program grant is an arrangement where money is received from the
Province of Alberta to provide housing assistance for individuals and families residing or needing to
reside in the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo.  The Municipality makes claims for qualified
individuals or families, receives the funds and pays them out to qualified individuals on a monthly
basis.  During 2019, the Municipality received grant funding of $4,824,489 (2018 - $4,694,223).

(c) Emergency Services Grants

The Municipality received four grants from the Province of Alberta related to the provision of
emergency services within the Municipality.  Alberta Emergency Management Agency provides,
through Alberta Municipal Affairs, the 911 grant, and the Fire Services and Emergency
Preparedness grant and Alberta Agriculture and Forestry provides the FireSmart Community grant.
The 911 grant supports and enhances the delivery and development of local 911 services
throughout Alberta. The Fire Services and Emergency Preparedness grant provides an effective
and cost-efficient mechanism for increased training capacity that results in an increased number of
trained fire service and emergency management practitioners.  The FireSmart Community grant
assists communities in reducing the risk of wildfire within their respective jurisdictions.  During
2019, the Municipality refunded $404 (2018 - $500,640 received).

(d) Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) Grants

The Province of Alberta provides two RCMP grants through the Alberta Solicitor General and
Minister of Public Security - the Police Officers Grant (POG) and the Municipal Policing Assistance
Grant (MPAG).  POG provides assistance to Municipalities to promote the hiring of new police
officers throughout the province.  MPAG helps communities to meet the costs of their policing
services.  During 2019, the Municipality received $1,526,076 (2018 - $1,365,216).

(e) Community and Regional Economic Support (CARES) Grant

The Province of Alberta through the Minister of Economic Development and Trade provides the
CARES grant to fund initiatives of Alberta Municipalities that enhance local economic conditions,
leverage regional economic development resources, and build local and regional capacity for
sustainable economic development delivery.  During 2019 the Municipality received $nil (2018 -
$95,000).

(f) FireSmart Grant

The Province of Alberta, through the Minister of Agriculture and Forestry, provides the FireSmart
operating grant to fund initiatives that reduce the wildfire risk and/or hazard to the community by
emergency planning, education and vegetation management.  During 2019, the Municipality
received $nil (2018 - $6,000,000).

(g) Victims of Crime Grant

The Province of Alberta, through Alberta Justice and Solicitor General, provides the Victims of Crime
grant which funds services that benefit victims during their involvement with the criminal justice
process.  During 2019, the Municipality received $395,369 (2018 - $261,962).
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8. Deferred revenue (continued)

Operating government transfers (continued)

(h) Other operating grants include various government grants including:

Emergency Transitional Shelter Initiative

The Municipality entered into an agreement with the Province of Alberta through the Emergency
Transitional Shelter Initiative to undertake or support projects which provide emergency, short-term,
and/or long-term supportive housing and deliver services to alleviate the problem of homelessness
in Alberta.  During 2019, the Municipality received grant funding of $1,292,169 (2018 - $1,550,603).

Capital government transfers 

(i) Community Development Plan

In 2009, the Municipality entered into an agreement with the Province of Alberta to service the
development of Crown Lands known as Parsons Creek and Saline Creek Plateau.  To facilitate this
servicing, for residential and other purposes, a grant totaling $242,380,000 was provided by the
Province.  During 2019, the Municipality recognized $10,518,388 of grant funds (2018 - $1,610).

(j) Municipal Sustainability Initiative Grant

In 2007, the Province of Alberta introduced the Municipal Sustainability Initiative program to assist
municipalities with managing growth pressures, provide sustainable funding and support
infrastructure needs.  Based on a pre-established formula and budget availability, the Municipality
will receive an annual grant allocation.  In 2019, the Municipality received $16,910,007 (2018 -
$40,516,420) and allocated interest on the unspent grant in the amount of $75,477 (2018 -
$339,138).

(k) Federal Gas Tax Fund Grant

The Federal Gas Tax Fund Grant (formerly New Deal for Cities and Communities Grant) assists
municipalities in addressing their sustainable municipal capital infrastructure needs.  Funding is
received through the allocation of the federal gasoline tax to Alberta municipalities.  This grant
program is extended to 2024.  In 2019, the Municipality received $12,620,692 (2018 - $6,324,684)
and allocated interest on the unspent grant in the amount of $82,216 (2018 - $47,637).

(l) Alberta Affordable Housing Initiative

The Province of Alberta provides grants to support the development and supply of affordable
housing in Hawthorne Heights and Parsons Creek.  During 2019, the Municipality allocated interest
on the unspent grants in the amount of $22,337 (2018 - $17,923).

(m) 911 Grant

Alberta's Emergency 911 Act came into force on April 1, 2014.  The Act established the Alberta 911
Grant Program under the Alberta Emergency Management Agency.  The objective of the 911 Grant
Program is to strengthen and support local delivery of 911.  This will be done through delivering a
new source of funding generated from a monthly 911 levy on cellphones, and by developing
provincial standards for 911.  In 2019, the Municipality received $496,125 (2018 - $nil) and
allocated interest on the unspent grant in the amount of $8,788 (2018 - $3,356).

(n) South Policing Facility Grant

Alberta Infrastructure provided funding in 2011 as a contribution towards the costs of the
construction and development of a new Wood Buffalo South Policing Facility. The remaining
balance will be recognized as rental revenue over the term of the South Policing Facility lease.
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8. Deferred revenue (continued)

Capital government transfers (continued)

(o) FireSmart Grant – Emergency Response Systems

The Province of Alberta, through the Minister of Agriculture and Forestry, provides the FireSmart
capital grant to fund initiatives that reduce the wildfire risk and/or hazard to the community by
emergency planning, education and vegetation management.  The Municipality is using a portion of
this grant to fund the FireSmart Interpretive Trail and to migrate existing emergency communication
systems to Alberta First Responders Radio Communication System (AFRRCS). In 2019, the
Municipality received $nil (2018 - $1,000,000) and allocated interest on the unspent grant in the
amount of $14,955 (2018 - $6,440).

(p) Strategic Transportation Infrastructure Program Grant

The Strategic Transportation Infrastructure Program grant provides financial assistance to rural and
smaller urban municipalities for developing and maintaining key transportation infrastructure.  The
Municipality applied under the Local Road Bridge component for the Fort Chipewyan Winter Road
Culvert project.  In 2019, the Municipality received $nil (2018 - $460,000) and allocated interest on
the unspent grant in the amount of $577 (2018 - $1,949).

(q) Green Transit Incentive Program Grants

The Municipality entered into cost-sharing agreements with Alberta Transportation to undertake the
construction of a transit maintenance facility and two bus bay turnouts as well as the purchase of
34 low floor buses, whereby the Province of Alberta provides 66.7% of eligible costs. In 2019, the
Municipality received $17,324,195 (2018 - $649,996) and allocated interest on the unspent grant in
the amount of $78,321 (2018 - $nil).

(r) Alberta Community Resilience Program Grant

The Municipality entered into an agreement with Alberta Environment and Parks for funding under
the Alberta Community Resilience Program to undertake flood mitigation work in the region.  In
2019, the Municipality received $6,590,000 (2018 - $nil) and allocated interest on the unspent grant
in the amount of $6,157 (2018 - $nil)

 Other 

(s) Rights Holder Agreements

From 2006 to 2009, contributions totaling $2,120,000 were received from entities within the
Municipality in exchange for rights holder agreements for certain vacant units in apartment projects
owned by the Municipality for a period of 25 years.  The Municipality has the sole right to accept or
reject the proposed tenants based on the Municipality's pre-established criteria.  The rights holder
has first right of refusal to certain vacant units and if there is no proposed or accepted tenant, the
rights holder can lease the unit for a one-year term so that the unit remains available for a future
referred tenant, subject to acceptance by the Municipality's acceptance criteria.  If there is no
proposed or accepted tenant, and the rights holder does not exercise its option to lease the unit,
then the Municipality can lease the unit to another tenant for a one-year lease.  The rights holder
can assign or sell their rights under the agreements and have the right to both terminate the
agreements and have the right of first refusal to renew the agreements after 25 years under the
new terms and conditions. The agreements do not convey any interest in land and buildings to the
rights holders and regular monthly rental payments are required under any unit rented.
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8. Deferred revenue (continued)

Other (continued)

(t) Deferred Offsite Levies and Developer Charges

The Municipality collects offsite levies and developer charges from property developers prior to new
development commencing within the municipality.  During 2019, the Municipality received $54,875
(2018 - $525,375) in levies and charges and allocated interest on the unspent levies and charges of
$29,670 (2018 - $285,990).

(u) Deferred Developer Agreements

The Municipality entered agreements to perform work on behalf of developers and received
payments in lieu of municipal reserve lands.

(v) Canadian Red Cross Society – Recovery Gift Agreement

The Canadian Red Cross Society provided funding under a Recovery Gift Agreement to facilitate
the provision of relief and recovery work in the region following the Alberta wildfires of 2016. During
2019, the Municipality received $4,000,000 (2018 - $nil).

(w) Canadian Red Cross Society – Disaster Response Service Agreement

In 2018, the RMWB entered into a Disaster Response Service Agreement with the Canadian Red
Cross Society for support the Small Business Program (Phase 3B) providing programming for small
businesses impacted by the May 2016 Horse River Wildfire disaster in the Municipality. The total
contribution under the agreement will be $992,472. During 2019, the Municipality received $nil
(2018 - $496,236).

(x) Insurance Proceeds – Wildfire Event

In 2018, the Municipality negotiated with its insurance providers to finalize the insurance settlement.
During 2019, the Municipality received $nil (2018 - $9,531,000).

9. Employee benefit obligations

(a) Vacation and overtime

The vacation and overtime liability is comprised of the vacation and overtime that employees are
deferring to future years.  Employees have either earned the benefits or are entitled to those
benefits within the next budgetary year.

2019 2018

Accrued vacation pay and overtime bank 7,887,246$    6,924,470$     
Accrued salary and benefits 9,462,389  11,426,845   

17,349,635$       18,351,315$     
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9. Employee benefit obligations (continued)

(b) Local Authorities Pension Plan

Employees of the Municipality participate in the LAPP, which is covered by the Alberta Public Sector
Pension Plans Act.

The Municipality is required to make current service contributions to the LAPP of 9.39% (2018 -
10.39%) of pensionable earnings up to the Canada Pension Plan year's maximum pensionable
earnings and 13.84% (2018 - 14.84%) for the excess.  Employees of the Municipality are required to
make current service contributions of 8.39% (2018 - 9.39%) of pensionable salary up to the year's
maximum pensionable salary and 12.84% (2018 - 13.84%) on pensionable salary above this
amount.  Contributions for current service are recorded as expenditures in the year in which they
become due.

Total current service contributions by the Municipality to the LAPP in 2019 are $16,202,490 (2018 -
$17,543,952). Total current service contributions by the employees of the Municipality to the LAPP
in 2019 are $14,883,621 (2018 - $16,143,539).

The LAPP reported a surplus for the overall plan as at December 31, 2018 of $3,469,347,000 (2017
- $4,835,515,000).  Information as at December 31, 2019 is not available at the time of preparing
these consolidated financial statements.

(c) APEX Supplementary Pension Plan

The APEX Supplementary Pension Plan (APEX), an Alberta Urban Municipalities Association
sponsored defined benefit pension plan covered under the provisions of the Alberta Employment
Pension Plans Act, commenced on January 1, 2003 and provides supplementary pension benefits
to a prescribed class of employees with approximately 192 (2018 - 180) beneficiaries.  The plan
supplements the LAPP.

Contributions are made by the prescribed class of employees and the Municipality.  Employees and
the Municipality are required to make current service contributions to APEX of 2.84% and 3.78%
respectively on pensionable earnings up to $151,278 (2018 - $147,222) per employee per year.

Total current service contributions by the Municipality to APEX in 2019 were $805,866 (2018 -
$753,716).  Total current service contributions by the employees of the Municipality were $605,450
(2018 - $566,214).

The cost of post-retirement benefits earned by employees is determined by actuarial valuation using
the projected benefit method prorated on service and management's best estimate of salary and
benefit escalation, and retirement age of employees.  The cost of post-retirement benefits is fully
funded.

(d) Other employee benefit plans

The Municipality fully funds all benefits with the exception of long-term disability and benefits that
are paid by employees as outlined in the Canadian Union of Public Employees and International
Association of Fire Fighters contracts.  The Municipality's contributions are expensed to the extent
that they do not relate to discretionary reserves.  The Municipality accrues its obligations for
employee non-pension future benefits.

The Municipality sponsors certain employee registered and non-registered retirement plans, which
are funded through employee and/or employer contributions.
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9. Employee benefit obligations (continued)

(e) Employee housing initiative - designated housing units

On February 14, 2006, a designated housing unit program was established by the Municipality.
Under this program, a specified number of rental units (18) are provided for exclusive use by
employees of the Municipality to assist with transitional housing needs.

The program is for new employees requiring transitional housing, or in unique cases, for an existing
employee where affordable housing cannot be secured by the employee within the Municipality.
The designated rental units are allocated as per the qualifying income of the employees as
determined by the Municipality. Units are allocated based on merit and employees enter into short
term lease agreements for the rental of the designated rental units at an agreed upon monthly rental
cost.  The employee is responsible for the monthly rental cost and any required damage deposit.

(f) Employee housing initiative - home equity protection program

On February 14, 2006, a home equity protection program was established by the Municipality.
Under this program, any employee approved for participation in the program will be compensated by
the Municipality in an amount equal to any loss in value of the employee's principal residence
between the date of the employee's approval for participation in the program and the date of sale of
the principal residence by the employee.  This program was discontinued as of November 30, 2013.

Employees who are approved for participation in the program become eligible for payment under
the program after the employee has completed three years of uninterrupted permanent employment
with the Municipality. If an employee ceases to be an employee of the Municipality within the three-
year period or if an employee is not in continuous occupancy of their principal residence, they are
not eligible for payment under the program.

As at December 31, 2019, $1,362,500 (2018 - $1,501,200) is accrued within these consolidated
financial statements relating to this program.  During 2019, the Municipality paid out $3,691,000
(2018 - $5,851,750) for this program.  There are 231 (2018 - 255) employees eligible, approved and
participating in the program with an aggregate secured property value of $140,095,233 (2018 -
$154,368,625) based on assessed values.
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9. Employee benefit obligations (continued)

(g) MuniSERP - supplemental retirement program

MuniSERP is an accrued benefit obligation for certain groups of employees; the future benefit plan
commenced in 2012.  An actuarial valuation for this plan was completed by the Alberta Municipal
Services Corporation's actuaries as at December 31, 2019.

MuniSERP is a supplementary retirement program that cannot be prefunded.

This is a municipal contributed plan for a certain group of employees.  MuniSERP is managed
through Alberta Municipal Services Corporation.

This program provides benefits in excess of those allowed under the registered pension
plans - LAPP and APEX Supplementary Pension Plans.  This program is not a registered pension
plan and thus is not subject to pension regulation.

The following presents the MuniSERP net assets as at December 31st:

The significant actuarial assumptions measuring the Municipality’s accrued benefit obligation are: 

2019 2018
Accrued benefit obligation

Balance, beginning of year 808,934$     916,394$     
Current service and interest cost (recovery) 179,741       (107,460)     
Balance, end of year 988,675 808,934    

Assets held to fund liability 1,113,685    683,654    
Net assets (liabilities) 125,010$     (125,280)$   

2019 2018
Inflation 2.25% 2.25%
Wages and salaries escalations 2.75% 3.50%
Interest (discount rate on accrued benefit obligations) 4.60% 4.75%
Average municipal service (years) 3.0 2.3             
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10. Contaminated sites liability

The Municipality recorded a contaminated sites liability for 2019 of $1,928,561 (2018 - $1,839,866)
which represents  the present value of reclamation costs to the Municipality, using annual rates of 2.10%
(2018 –  1.70%) for inflation and discount rates of 2.69% (2018 –  3.34%) for remediation costs and
1.76% (2018 – 2.13%) for any related pre-remediation or monitoring costs.  The following represents the
contaminated sites liability breakdown by site at December 31st.

Contaminants that exceed environmental standards were present in the soil and/or groundwater due to 
the historic usage of the sites and/or to items remaining on the sites today.  The undiscounted estimated 
expenditures for these sites are $1,962,962 (2018 - $1,962,962) and there are no expected recoveries 
available from other sources.   

2019 2018
Sites:

Conklin - former airstrip 496,025$     480,620$    
Conklin - former storage site 103,301      101,211   
Fort Chipewyan - historic unofficial landfill 58,904        57,909    
Fort McMurray - former tow yard 1,270,331   1,200,126   

Net present value of estimated expenditures 1,928,561$ 1,839,866$    
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11. Landfill closure and post-closure obligation

The obligation recorded at December 31, 2019 for the landfill closure and post closure is $17,423,662
(2018 - $13,974,378) and represents the present value of closure and post-closure costs of the
Municipality landfill sites, using annual rates of 2.10%  (2018 –  1.70%) for inflation and discount rates of
1.76% (2018 –  2.13%) for post-closure and 2.69%  (2018 –  3.34%) for closure.

Post-closure activities are expected to occur for 25 years and will involve surface and ground water
monitoring, landfill cover maintenance and erosion management as per Alberta Environment standards.

At the end of 2019 there are four closed and two partially-closed landfill sites within the Regional
Municipality of Wood Buffalo.

The Fort McMurray Regional landfill and the Fort Chipewyan landfill are the only operational landfill sites
within the Municipality. The Fort McMurray Regional landfill consists of four cells. Cell 4 is fully
constructed and available as additional capacity up until cells 1 to 3 are closed, at which point, cell 4 will
be in full operation, and the only active cell.

The following summarizes the total net present value of the estimated costs of closure and post-closure 
care for the two operational landfill sites and the four closed and two partially-closed landfill sites within 
the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo: 

Capacity utilization Total Cells Cells Used % Used

Estimated 
remaining life 

in years

Fort McMurray - Regional landfill 4 2.1 53% 8
Fort Chipewyan 1 0.4 41% 15

2019

2019 2018

Estimated closure costs 22,317,418$   19,654,487$   
Estimated post-closure costs 292,532   408,244   
Estimated total liability (100% utilized) 22,609,950   20,062,731   

Accrued liability portion (current utilization) 17,423,662   13,974,378   

Portion of liability remaining to be recognized 5,186,288$     6,088,353$     
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12. Long-term debt

a) Municipal debt

Debentures supported by general tax levies and utility rates were fully repaid during the year.

Interest on long-term debt in 2019 amounted to $11,840,000 (2018 - $12,639,738).

Controlled organizations debt 

(b) Long-term debt

Long-term debt is comprised of commercial mortgages with weighted average interest rate of 3.2%,
(2018 - 3.1%), payments of $507,052 per month including principal and interest, maturities from
2020 to 2028, with land and buildings pledged as collateral with a carrying value of $191,891,681
(2018 - $197,032,570).

Contractual principal repayments of long-term debt for the next 5 years and thereafter are as follows:

Interest on long-term debt in 2019 amounted to $2,456,998 (2018 - $3,859,344). 

During the year, the Municipality used $5,040 (2018 - $19,600,000) of deferred grant funding to pay 
down long-term debt with the approval of the Province of Alberta.   

The long-term debt is also collateralized by a general assignment of rents, leases and sales proceeds, 
deposits and all other payments on the housing projects. 

2019 2018

Municipal debt:
Debentures supported by general tax levies (a) -$  162,686,383$      
Debentures supported by utility rates (a) - 102,735,023 

- 265,421,406 
Controlled organizations debt:

Long-term debt (b) 76,286,233    79,915,193 
76,286,233    79,915,193     

76,286,233$     345,336,599$      

Principal 
Payments

Interest 
Payments

Total 
Payments

Principal 
Balance 

Maturing

2020 3,744,305$       2,351,641$       6,095,946$       16,216,870$     
2021 3,863,441          2,232,505      6,095,946    -     
2022 3,986,494          2,109,452      6,095,946    8,655,390  
2023 4,113,598          1,982,348      6,095,946    11,829,939      
2024 4,244,890          1,851,056      6,095,946    -     

Thereafter 56,333,505       13,519,097   69,852,602       18,935,445      
76,286,233$     24,046,099$     100,332,332$   55,637,644$     
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12. Long-term debt (continued)

(b) Long-term debt (continued)

Principal payments assume refinancing at consistent rates and terms as the current mortgage.
Principal balances maturing would either be refinanced or paid in full at the date of maturity and are
included in principal payments due to 2024 and thereafter.

13. Debt and debt service limits

Section 276(2) of the Municipal Government Act requires that debt, maximum allowable debt and debt
service limits as defined by Alberta Regulation 255/2000 (the Regulation) for the Municipality be
disclosed as follows:

Debt limit

Debt service limit 

The debt limit is calculated at 2.0 times revenue of the Municipality (as defined in the Regulation as 
amended by Ministerial Order L:038/06) and the debt service limit is calculated at 0.35 times of the 
same revenue.  Incurring debt beyond these limitations requires approval by the Provincial Minister of 
Municipal Affairs.     

Pursuant to section 6(1) of the Regulation, the Municipality has elected to exclude revenues, total debt 
and debt service costs for certain controlled corporations from its debt limit and debt service limit 
calculations.  The controlled corporations that have been excluded are Wood Buffalo Housing & 
Development Corporation and the Regional Recreation Corporation of Wood Buffalo. 

The Municipality’s Debt Management Policy (amended November 27, 2012) has an established debt 
and debt service limit of 85% of the Municipal Government Act and regulation limits. 

2019 2018

Maximum allowable debt 1,598,275,880$   1,731,027,690$     
Total municipal debt - 265,421,406 
Amount of total debt limit available 1,598,275,880$   1,465,606,284$     
Percentage used 0.00% 15.33%

2019 2018

Maximum allowable debt service 279,698,279$      302,929,846$   
Annual payments on existing municipal debt - 29,457,835 
Amount of service on debt limit available 279,698,279$      273,472,011$   
Percentage used 0.00% 9.72%
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14. Tangible capital assets

Land Land Buildings and Engineered Machinery and Vehicles Assets Under
Improvements Improvements Structures Equipment Construction 2019 2018

COST:
Balance, beginning of year 416,697,693$   309,851,549$    987,507,658$      2,782,829,677$   149,302,259$     85,319,071$     519,719,216$      5,251,227,123$   5,101,032,216$   

Acquisition of tangible capital assets 3,791,150    15,527,855       28,714,824  117,913,989     6,289,950     6,225,590      31,871,731   210,335,089     165,624,698    

Disposal of tangible capital assets (4,974)    (299,084)     -      -  (598,652)   (3,623,066)    - (4,525,776) (15,429,791)     

Balance, end of year 420,483,869$   325,080,320$    1,016,222,482$   2,900,743,666$   154,993,557$     87,921,595$     551,590,947$      5,457,036,436$   5,251,227,123$   

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION:
Balance, beginning of year -$   85,256,196$      176,814,076$      633,751,965$      85,196,846$       53,748,520$     -$  1,034,767,603$   928,410,562$      

Annual amortization - 17,530,304  25,340,503  63,597,322   11,866,396   5,764,710      - 124,099,235 120,346,122    

Accumulated amortization on disposals - (287,121) -      -  (518,611)   (3,623,066)    - (4,428,798) (13,989,081)     

Balance, end of year -$   102,499,379$    202,154,579$      697,349,287$      96,544,631$       55,890,164$     -$  1,154,438,040$   1,034,767,603$   

NET BOOK VALUE OF
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 420,483,869$   222,580,941$    814,067,903$      2,203,394,379$   58,448,926$       32,031,431$     551,590,947$      4,302,598,396$   4,216,459,520$   

2018 NET BOOK VALUE OF
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 416,697,693$   224,595,353$    810,693,582$      2,149,077,712$   64,105,413$       31,570,551$     519,719,216$      4,216,459,520$   
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14. Tangible capital assets (continued)

a) Assets under construction

Assets under construction having a value of $551,590,947 (2018 - $519,719,216) have not been
amortized.  Amortization of these assets will commence when the assets are available for use.

b) Contributed tangible capital assets

Contributed capital assets have been recognized at fair value at the date of contribution.  The value
of contributed assets received during the year is $3,102,354 (2018 - $6,167,889).

Contributed tangible capital assets received consists of:

c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values

Assets recognized at nominal value by the Municipality consist of certain land, land improvements,
buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, engineered structures, and vehicles.

2019 2018

Roadway System 1,792,193$     3,198,574$     
Water System 384,420       848,961   
Wastewater System 479,299       753,907   
Storm System 446,442       1,291,447      
Land Improvements - 75,000 

3,102,354$     6,167,889$     
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15. Accumulated surplus

Reserves are a key tool used to set aside funds to replace existing tangible capital assets, respond to 
emergent needs, stabilize tax rates, and fund future capital projects.  Capital reserves are substantially 
committed to current budgeted capital projects. 

Operating and capital reserves related to the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Library Board, 
Wood Buffalo Housing & Development Corporation, the Regional Recreation Corporation of Wood 
Buffalo and the Wood Buffalo Economic Development Corporation are dedicated for those entities and 
are not available for general use by the Municipality. 

2019 2018

Operations:
Operating reserves: 

General administration 316,150,213$       335,557,651$    
Common services 142,575        142,575   
Recreation 700,395        931,103   
Urban parks 289,775        289,775   
Wood Buffalo Economic Development Corporation 7,579,608     (246,275)  
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Library Board 1,546,187     1,509,847  
Wood Buffalo Housing & Development Corporation 49,377,490   49,377,490   
Regional Recreation Corporation of Wood Buffalo 1,852,237     2,129,123  

377,638,480   389,691,289  

Total operations 377,638,480   389,691,289  

Capital:
Surplus (Deficit) - undesignated 9,548,610   (83,768,179)   

Capital reserves:
General 689,037,987   842,004,475  
Equipment 706,327    706,327   
Common services 708,599    708,599   
Roads and streets 33,022   32,811   
Water supply 2,052,107   2,052,107  
Sewage 2,317,650   2,317,650  
Recreation 6,907,212   6,907,212  
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Library Board 426,996    458,673   
Wood Buffalo Housing & Development Corporation 12,515,305   12,515,305   
Regional Recreation Corporation of Wood Buffalo 1,769,438   1,769,438  

716,474,643     869,472,597      
Equity in tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 14) 5,457,036,436  5,251,227,123   

Accumulated amortization (Note 14) (1,154,438,040)    (1,034,767,603)  
Long-term debt (Note 12) (76,286,233)  (345,336,599)   

4,226,312,163  3,871,122,921   

Total capital 4,952,335,416  4,656,827,339   

Accumulated surplus 5,329,973,896$    5,046,518,628$   
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15. Accumulated surplus (continued)

Changes in accumulated surplus

Unrestricted Restricted Equity in Tangible

Deficit Surplus Capital Assets 2019 2018

Balance, beginning of year (83,768,179)$     1,259,163,886$   3,871,122,921$    5,046,518,628$   4,636,876,366$   

Annual surplus 283,455,268  -  -   283,455,268  409,642,262  
Unrestricted funds designated for future use (43,226,722)   43,226,722  -   -  -   
Restricted funds used for operations 20,518,497  (20,518,497)   -   -  -   
Restricted funds used for tangible capital assets - (187,758,988) 187,758,988 -  -   
Current year funds used for tangible capital assets (19,473,747)   - 19,473,747 -  -   
Contributed tangible capital assets (3,102,354)   - 3,102,354 -  -   
Disposal of tangible capital assets 96,978  - (96,978) -  -   
Annual amortization expense 124,099,235  - (124,099,235) -  -   
Long term debt repaid (269,050,366)   - 269,050,366 -  -   

Change in accumulated surplus 93,316,789  (165,050,763)    355,189,242 283,455,268  409,642,262  

Balance, end of year 9,548,610$      1,094,113,123$   4,226,312,163$    5,329,973,896$   5,046,518,628$   
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16. Net taxes available for municipal purposes

The Municipality is required to levy taxes under section 353 of the Municipal Government Act towards 
payment of education requisitions.  Education tax revenues are recorded at the amounts levied.  Actual 
taxes levied over/under the amount requisitioned are recorded as an adjustment to taxes and grants in 
lieu receivable.  Budgeted taxation amounts exclude requisitioned amounts collected on behalf of other 
entities. 

17. Government transfers

Budget 2019 2018
(Note 24)

Taxation:
Real property taxes 642,141,500$ 733,516,194$ 759,071,358$ 
Government grants in lieu of property taxes - 1,091,187 1,273,569        
Special assessments and local improvement taxes 266,200  256,000 328,123       
Well drilling 1,300,000    1,439,334 1,651,417        

643,707,700   736,302,715   762,324,467   
Requisitions:

Designated Industrial Properties - 3,665,797 1,509,106    
Alberta School Foundation Fund - 69,990,191 71,371,590  
School boards - 5,368,126 6,105,166    

- 79,024,114 78,985,862  

Net taxes available for municipal purposes 643,707,700$ 657,278,601$ 683,338,605$ 

Budget 2019 2018
(Note 24)

Transfers for Operating:
Conditional shared cost agreements and grants

Federal Government 105,500$   286,337$     362,484$   
Provincial Government 22,308,055  43,894,152  50,580,666  

Total government transfers for operating 22,413,555  44,180,489  50,943,150  

Transfers for Capital:
Conditional shared cost agreements and grants

Federal Government 6,000,000    11,601,118  2,386,712    
Provincial Government 22,583,333  50,580,352  80,854,857  

Total government transfers for capital 28,583,333  62,181,470  83,241,569  

Total government transfers 50,996,888$   106,361,959$ 134,184,719$ 
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17. Government transfers (continued)

In addition to those government transfers relating to deferred revenues, as described in Note 8, the
following operating provincial government transfers were received:

Operating government transfers

(a) Disaster Recovery Program

Alberta Municipal Affairs through the Alberta Emergency Management Agency provides financial
assistance in the event of a disaster to individuals, small businesses, not-for-profit organizations,
municipalities and government departments through the Disaster Recovery program. The
Municipality is approved for assistance through the Disaster Recovery Program for the 2016 wildfire
event (Note 26). During 2019, the Municipality received $60,000,000 (2018 - $nil), recognized as
operating government transfers $20,036,798 (2018 - $27,673,480) and recognized as receivable
$3,926,462 (2018 - $43,889,665).

(b) Dispatch Contract

Alberta Health Services provides a dispatch contract to partially offset the cost of running the
Municipality's dispatch centre.  During 2019, the Municipality received and recognized as operating
government transfers $666,359 (2018 - $660,875).

(c) Emergency Medical Services Contract

Alberta Health Services provides the Emergency Medical Services Ground Ambulance contract
which provides assistance to partially offset the cost of providing 24/7 emergency medical services
to the Municipality's citizens.  During 2019, the Municipality received and recognized $7,178,054
(2018 - $7,173,567).

(d) Family & Community Support Services Grant

The Province of Alberta provides the Family and Community Support Services Grant to support
several programs for children, youth, families, adults, seniors, community development, and social
planning in the Municipality's different communities in accordance with the Family and Community
Support Services Act and Regulation.  During 2019, the Municipality received and recognized as
operating government transfers $1,924,513 (2018 - $1,924,513).

(e) Alberta Municipal Affairs – Public Library Operating Grant

The Municipality receives a per capita operating grant from the Province of Alberta through Alberta
Municipal Affairs to support the operation of library services.  In 2019, the Municipality received and
recognized as operating government transfers $728,562 (2018 - $693,928).

(f) Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program Grant

The Canada 150 Community Infrastructure Program is part of Canada 150 Celebrates, the
Government of Canada's celebration of our country's 150th anniversary of Confederation.  Through
investments in community infrastructure, the Government of Canada invests in projects that
celebrate heritage, create jobs, and improve the quality of life for Canadians.  In 2019, the
Municipality received and recognized as capital government transfers $nil (2018 - $126,022).
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18. Expenses by object

19. Contractual Rights

The Municipality has entered into lease agreements to lease land and building space to other parties 
until 2031 assuming no default on payments by the counterparty.  The annual lease receipts in each 
of the following years are: 

20. Commitments and contingent liabilities

(a) Operating leases

The Municipality has entered into lease agreements for the leasing of office space and equipment
until 2038.  The annual lease payments in each of the following years are:

Budget 2019 2018
 (Note 24) 

Salaries, wages and benefits 263,694,037$  259,181,834$  253,942,114$   
Contracted and general services 81,660,709      110,366,631  118,948,792  
Purchases from other governments 25,266,500      21,938,952    23,641,339  
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities 47,545,255      49,358,510    46,186,918  
Provision for allowances 834,000        4,830,830      (2,568,892)   
Transfers to local boards and agencies 521,000        449,514      71,500  
Transfers to individuals and organizations 7,258,305       14,540,310    8,173,726  
Bank charges and short-term interest 421,200        469,162      458,205  
Interest on long-term debt 14,237,981      14,296,998    16,499,082  
Other 15,000        29,861,535    196,176  
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 124,099,235 120,346,122  

- 295,444 -   
Total expenses 441,453,987$  629,688,955$  585,895,082$   

Valuation loss on real property inventory and mortgages 
receivable

2020 5,924,824$      
2021 1,249,102        
2022 1,162,822        
2023 1,048,939        
2024 854,202      

Thereafter 3,333,891        
13,573,780$    

2020 2,775,191$      
2021 1,926,953        
2022 1,926,953        
2023 1,608,207        
2024 14,475     

Thereafter 202,650         
8,454,429$      

55



REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

20. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

(b) Borrowing facilities (line of credit)

Pursuant to section 256 of the Municipal Government Act and Municipal Bylaw 16/019, the
Municipality is authorized to borrow from the Municipality's financial institution, on a revolving basis,
up to $50,000,000 for the purpose of meeting current operating expenditures and obligations of the
Municipality when required.  At December 31, 2019, the Municipality had authorized the line of
credit available from its bank in the amount of $50,000,000.  At year end, no amounts were drawn
against its available line of credit.

Two of the Municipality's controlled entities entered into banking agreements that include a revolving
demand credit facility available in the amount of $1,000,000 (2018 - $3,000,000) and $9,000,000
(2018 - $9,000,000) which bear interest at prime minus 0.5% and prime plus 3.0% respectively.  At
December 31, 2019, no amounts were drawn against these facilities (2018 - $nil).  In addition, one
of the Municipality's controlled entities has access to a $300,000 (2018 - $100,000) Visa business
facility which is drawn upon from time to time with their accounts receivable pledged as security on
this facility.

(c) Development agreements

Developers have entered into agreements with the Municipality in the amount of approximately
$22,000,000 (2018 - $28,000,000) and are committed to installing and constructing certain works to
serve the development of lands within the Municipality.  The Municipality has taken security from
developers in the form of deposit liabilities in the amount of $5,791,540 (2018 - $5,688,396) and
letters of credit in the amount of $14,355,012 (2018 - $15,575,901) to ensure performance by the
developers under the agreements.

(d) Contingent liabilities

The Municipality identified one contaminated site where the costs are expected to be paid by a third
party.  This site in Abasand is a former oil sands site and contaminants in soil and groundwater
have been found to exceed environmental standards.  The undiscounted expected expenditures to
reclaim this site have been estimated at $2,000,000.  The Municipality has assessed that it is not
responsible to remediate the contamination and therefore has not recorded a liability.

The Municipality is a defendant in various lawsuits as at December 31, 2019.  Where the
occurrence of future events is considered likely to result in a loss with respect to an existing
condition, and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, amounts have been included in
accrued liabilities.  Where the resulting losses, if any, cannot be determined or the occurrence of
future events is unknown, amounts have not been recorded.  Any losses arising from these actions
will be recorded in the year in which the related litigation is settled.
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21. Salary and benefits disclosure

Disclosure of salaries and benefits for elected municipal officials, the chief administrative officer and
designated officer by Alberta Regulation 313/2000 is as follows:

(a) Salaries are disclosed as gross wages paid.

(b) Employer’s share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of
employees including retirement pension, Canada Pension Plan, Employment Insurance, health
care, dental coverage, vision coverage, group life insurance, long and short-term disability plans,
accidental disability and dismemberment insurance, professional memberships and tuition.

(c) Benefits and allowances figures also include the employer’s share of the costs of additional taxable
benefits including special leave with pay, honorarium, car, travel and technology allowances.

(d) The Municipality's three designated officers are the Regional Assessor, Chief Legislative Officer and
Director of Planning and Development. In 2018, the Chief Financial Officer position was a
designated officer. During 2019, the Chief Financial Officer position was eliminated.

Benefits and
Salary Allowances Total Total

(a) (b,c) 2019 2018

Mayor Scott 164,918$     24,644$       189,562$     157,623$     
Former

Mayor Blake -          - -       96,748     

Ward 1
Councillor Allen 46,014         14,791       60,805         52,963     
Councillor Balsom 46,014         17,420       63,434         56,054     
Councillor McGrath 46,014         18,334       64,348         55,971     
Councillor Meagher 46,014         14,731       60,745         52,903     
Councillor Murphy 46,014         14,791       60,805         53,533     
Councillor Peddle 46,014         14,791       60,805         52,963     

Ward 2
Councillor Inglis 46,014         12,607       58,621         50,826     
Councillor Voyageur 54,626         11,369       65,995         52,941     

Ward 3
Councillor Lalonde 46,014         14,791       60,805         52,963     

Ward 4
Councillor Stroud 45,181         8,267        53,448         46,833    

Former
Councillor Germain -          - -       29,102     

Chief Administrative Officer 403,173       65,804       468,977       424,851   

Designated Officers (d)
Current 526,431       149,807     676,238       517,763   
Former -          - -       496,798   

1,562,441$  382,147$     1,944,588$  2,250,835$  
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22. Segment disclosures

The Municipality provides a wide range of services to its ratepayers.  Segment disclosures are intended
to enable users to better understand the government reporting entity and the major expense and
revenue activities of the Municipality.  For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent
amounts that are directly attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable
basis.

The segments have been selected based on a presentation similar to that adopted for the municipal
financial planning and budget processes.  Segments include:

(a) Fiscal Services provides financial and purchasing services for the Municipality.

(b) General Government consists of corporate administration and general municipal services for the
Municipality.

(c) Protective Service is comprised of police, traffic safety, bylaw enforcement, fire rescue and
ambulance services.

(d) Transportation includes bus, roadway and parking services.

(e) Environmental Use and Protection delivers services consisting of collection, processing and
disposal of residential and non-residential waste and recyclables, underground services, water and
wastewater treatment, as well as community relation services in support of waste management
programs.

(f) Public Health and Welfare provides family and community support services along with cemeteries.

(g) Planning and Development is comprised of the Community Development Planning branch, the
Comprehensive Planning branch and the Safety Codes branch.

(h) Recreation and Culture develops initiatives to provide opportunities and support in the areas of
arts heritage and culture, and in recreation, sport and leisure.

(i) Subsidiary Entities include Wood Buffalo Housing & Development Corporation, Regional
Recreation Corporation of Wood Buffalo, Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Library Board and
Wood Buffalo Economic Development Corporation.

The accounting policies used in the segment disclosures are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements (Note 1). 
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22. Segment disclosures (continued)

2019

Fiscal Services
General 

Government
Protective 

Service
Transportation

Environmental 
Use and 

Protection

Public Health 
and Welfare

Planning and 
Development

Recreation and 
Culture

Subsidiary Entities 2019 Total

Revenue:
Net taxes available for municipal purposes 656,578,300$    -$      -$ 44,010$      202,684$        -$    -$  -$ 453,607$   657,278,601$    
Government transfers - operating and capital - 84,575,832 9,833,200   - 58,676 3,048,967   85,834     10,548   8,748,902    106,361,959     
Sales and user charges - 1,566,173 3,404,395   2,244,477      37,993,718 25,131        77,355     189,005      18,317,648  63,817,902  
Sales to other governments - 95,375 285,254      - 2,812,824 -       -    -  -  3,193,453    
Penalties and costs on taxes 4,010,431       206,546 -  -    155,625 -       -    -  -  4,372,602    
Licenses and permits - 387,807 226,858      4,965  (360) - 1,398,971     435  - 2,018,676 
Fines - 15 2,587,368   -    -       - -    - 59,877 2,647,260 
Franchise and concession contracts - 8,184,926 -  -    -       -       -    -  -  8,184,926 
Returns on investments - 29,658,607 (9,749)    211     - 1,570 - 27,032 1,665,197    31,342,868 
Rentals - 791,109 791,560      13,931     - - 2,042       19,870 17,995,996  19,614,508 
Developers' agreements and levies (expenses) - 2,691,857 -  -    - - -    -  -  2,691,857 
Contributions of tangible capital assets - - -  2,238,635      863,719      -       -    -  -  3,102,354 
Other - 2,411,494 272,451      - 420 2,941    - 18,706 4,847,655    7,553,667 
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - 962,481 -  -    - -       - - 1,109      963,590       

660,588,731   131,532,222   17,391,337     4,546,229      42,087,306     3,078,609   1,564,202     265,596      52,089,991  913,144,223     
Expenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits - 61,428,250 54,312,415     43,008,851    32,202,551     3,392,698   10,322,714   16,988,032     37,526,323  259,181,834     
Contracted and general services - 47,299,246 3,316,907   14,676,096    17,065,482     366,157      3,553,912     10,189,643     13,899,188  110,366,631     
Purchases from other governments - 23,636 21,764,571     148,812   -       -       1,933       -  -  21,938,952  
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities - 10,380,982 1,279,844   13,835,484    5,733,600   175,696      63,855     1,367,003   16,522,046  49,358,510  
Provision for (recoveries of) allowances 7,350,484       (1,546,995) (887,211)     - (85,448) -       -    -  -  4,830,830    
Transfers to local boards and agencies -    -    -  -    -       -       -    449,514      - 449,514 
Transfers to (from) individuals and organizations - 11,419,459 122,630      -    -       24,137,287      - 7,933,712 (29,072,778)       14,540,310  
Bank charges and short-term interest - 106,930 5,823     (103) 21,489 - 96,489 2,730     235,804  469,162       
Interest on long-term debt - 338,000 484,000      290,000   5,085,000 - 844,000 4,799,000   2,456,998    14,296,998  
Other - 29,860,890 10    -    -       635  -    -  -  29,861,535  
Valuation losses on mortgages receivable - - -  -    -       -       -    -  295,444  295,444       

7,350,484       159,310,398   80,398,989     71,959,140    60,022,674     28,072,473      14,882,903   41,729,634     41,863,025  505,589,720     

Annual surplus (deficit), before amortization 653,238,247   (27,778,176)  (63,007,652)    (67,412,911)   (17,935,368)    (24,993,864)     (13,318,701)  (41,464,038)    10,226,966  407,554,503     

Amortization of tangible capital assets - 6,908,236 4,637,357   42,888,021    37,975,484     -       -    23,269,899     8,420,238    124,099,235     

Annual surplus (deficit) 653,238,247$    (34,686,412)$  (67,645,009)$  (110,300,932)$   (55,910,852)$  (24,993,864)$   (13,318,701)$  (64,733,937)$  1,806,728$      283,455,268$    
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22. Segment disclosures (continued)

2018

Fiscal Services
General 

Government
Protective Service Transportation

Environmental 
Use and 

Protection

Public Health 
and Welfare

Planning and 
Development

Recreation and 
Culture

Subsidiary Entities 2018 Total

Revenue:
Net taxes available for municipal purposes 680,553,583$  -$           -$ 126,819$         202,684$          -$              -$  -$  2,455,519$          683,338,605$    
Government transfers - operating and capital - 92,719,837 9,542,854         - -  2,753,030       - 19,217 29,149,781          134,184,719      
Sales and user charges - 2,653,914 2,549,886         2,085,609     39,936,092       30,105            193,978     664,467 12,846,186          60,960,237        
Sales to other governments - 350 231,039            - 2,378,460 -       - - - 2,609,849          
Penalties and costs on taxes 4,860,801        191,104 - - 243,047            -       - - (3,989) 5,290,963          
Licenses and permits - 428,801 2,445,886         (40) (1,520) - 2,046,081 420         (160) 4,919,468 
Fines - - 3,560,958         - - - - - 42,315 3,603,273 
Franchise and concession contracts - 7,875,171 - - -  -       - - - 7,875,171 
Returns on investments - 22,540,163 (1,419) 66 - 850 - 10,975 1,393,841            23,944,476 
Rentals - 690,958 1,229,039         13,961          - - 43,065       62,224 17,944,874          19,984,121 
Developers' agreements and levies - 21,017,127 - - - - - - - 21,017,127 
Contributions of tangible capital assets - - - 4,565,021     1,602,868         -       - - - 6,167,889 
Other - 5,727,675 3,087,342         - -  -       31,932       196,027  5,251,539            14,294,515 
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - 10,252,458 - (3,198,860) -  -       - - 293,333 7,346,931 

685,414,384    164,097,558         22,645,585       3,592,576     44,361,631       2,783,985       2,315,056  953,330  69,373,239          995,537,344      

Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits - 62,285,485 51,408,985       40,694,309   31,576,448       3,528,082       10,959,061     17,951,148     35,538,596          253,942,114      
Contracted and general services - 68,268,722 3,775,495         15,958,956   12,450,123       588,623          3,813,506  4,342,597       9,750,770            118,948,792      
Purchases from other governments - 9,364 23,503,354       122,377        -  -       6,244         - - 23,641,339        
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities - 9,766,768 1,738,581         13,379,154   5,560,744         215,131          326,340     1,405,141       13,795,059          46,186,918        
Provision for (recoveries of) allowances (1,911,041)       (1,593,130) 570,034            - 275,245 -       - - 90,000 (2,568,892)         
Transfers to local boards and agencies - - - - -  -       - 71,500    - 71,500
Transfers to (from) individuals and organizations - 40,000 30,000              - -  22,666,189     - 4,459,729 (19,022,192)         8,173,726 
Bank charges and short-term interest - 120,809 3,345 (21) 20,047 - 86,071 2,818      225,136 458,205             
Interest on long-term debt - 370,168 531,254            351,328        5,476,490 - 877,901 5,032,597       3,859,344            16,499,082        
Other - 145,260 (15) 50,000 933 - - (2)            - 196,176 

(1,911,041)       139,413,446         81,561,033       70,556,103   55,360,030       26,998,025     16,069,123     33,265,528     44,236,713          465,548,960      

Annual surplus (deficit), before amortization 687,325,425    24,684,112           (58,915,448)     (66,963,527)  (10,998,399)      (24,214,040)    (13,754,067)    (32,312,198)    25,136,526          529,988,384      

Amortization of tangible capital assets - 5,633,503 5,226,665         40,515,894   38,400,012       - 176,774 21,776,500     8,616,774            120,346,122      

Annual surplus (deficit) 687,325,425$  19,050,609$         (64,142,113)$        (107,479,421)$   (49,398,411)$    (24,214,040)$  (13,930,841)$  (54,088,698)$  16,519,752$        409,642,262$    
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23. Sales and user charges by segment

24. Budget data

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based upon the 2019 operating
and capital budgets approved by Council.

Amortization was not contemplated on development of the budget and, as such, has not been included.
The table below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated
financial statements.

Budget 2019 2018
(Note 24)

Council and other legislative 18,000$          8,650$        21,960$      
General administration 92,531     1,553,236       2,534,940   
Other general government - 308,121 97,014  
Police 371,225   1,511,580 745,081      
Fire 102,524   380,843    127,365      
Disaster and emergency measures - 19,825 105,538      
Ambulance and first aid 1,250,000      1,298,136 1,347,173   
Bylaw enforcement - 194,011 224,729      
Common and equipment pool 74,000     83,534 87,889  
Roads, streets, walks, lighting 353,300   616,195 478,956      
Public transport 1,445,305      1,544,748       1,518,764   
Water supply and distribution 17,035,765    15,448,525     15,916,653       
Wastewater treatment and disposal 12,179,579    10,620,782     11,548,198       
Waste management 13,132,100    11,924,411     12,471,241       
Cemeteries and crematoriums 20,381     25,131      30,105  
Land use planning, zoning and development 137,400   77,355      193,978      
Public housing operations 84,800     2,588,500       794,716      
Parks and recreation 15,138,882    15,614,319     12,715,937       

61,435,792$   63,817,902$     60,960,237$     Total sales and user charges

Budget Amount
Revenue:

Operating budget 671,855,631$        
Capital budget 256,680,449     
Subsidiaries' budget 44,797,221   

Less:
Transfers from other funds 149,006,414     

Total revenue 824,326,887     

Expenses:
Operating budget 671,855,631     
Capital budget 256,680,449     
Subsidiaries' budget 44,443,753   

Less:
Transfers to other funds 257,319,397     
Capital expenditures 256,680,449     
Long-term debt principal payments 17,526,000   

Total expenses 441,453,987     

Annual surplus 382,872,900$        
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25. Financial instruments

The Municipality's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, taxes and
grants in lieu receivable, trade and other receivables, investments, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, deposit liabilities, and long-term debt.  It is management's opinion that the Municipality is not
exposed to significant currency risks from its financial instruments.

The Municipality is subject to credit risk with respect to taxes and grants in lieu receivable, trade and
other receivables.  Credit risk arises from the possibility that taxpayers and entities to which the
Municipality provides services may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their obligations.
The large number and diversity of taxpayers and customers minimizes the credit risk. The Municipality is
subject to interest rate risk arising primarily from fluctuations in rates on its cash, investments and long-
term debt.

26. Fire event

Overview

On May 1, 2016, a wildfire began southwest of Fort McMurray, in the Regional Municipality of Wood
Buffalo.

Impact on Financial Results

Costs incurred as a result of response or recovery efforts are capitalized or expensed in accordance
with the accounting policies in Note 1.  Only costs that represent a betterment, enhancement or new
asset are capitalized, with repairs and maintenance being expensed.

The wildfire damaged or destroyed Municipal tangible capital assets.  In 2019 the Municipality disposed
of $nil (2018 - $46,400) in tangible capital assets due to wildfire damage. While the Municipality has
completed a portion of the work to restore conditions to pre-fire, it is expected that recovery efforts will
continue into 2020 and beyond.

The Municipality holds various insurance policies with multiple insurance providers which have been and
will be used to fund a portion of the response and recovery efforts.  The Municipality has received
$45,920,250 from insurance providers since 2016 relating to municipal assets and equipment destroyed
or damaged by the wildfire.  In 2019 the Municipality received $nil (2018 - $9,577,400) from insurance
providers.

The Municipality applied and was approved for relief under the Province of Alberta's Alberta Emergency
Agency's Disaster Recovery Assistance program (DRP).  Advances totaling $208,676,369 have been
received from DRP since 2016 to assist in paying for financial commitments resulting from expenses
incurred during and after the wildfire with $60,000,000 received in 2019 (2018 - $nil). The DRP recovery
efforts are forecast to be finished by 2021.
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26. Fire event (continued)

The following amounts recorded in the statement of operations and statement of financial position
related to the wildfire of 2016 are as follows:

The wildfire impact on Expenses by Object (Note 18) consists of: 

Measurement Uncertainty 

The impact of the wildfire was subject to a high degree of estimation and judgement, particularly as it 
relates to the estimation of future expenditures and impairment of assets.  The Municipality has used the 
best information at the time in all measurements and estimations related to the wildfire and those 
estimates may not materialize and the final results and adjustments to these estimates will be reflected in 
future financial statements.   

2019 2018
Financial assets 

Trade and other receivables 3,926,462$      45,479,490$          
3,926,462  45,479,490     

Liabilities
Deferred revenue 377,682     1,079,715   

377,682     1,079,715   

Net financial assets 3,548,780  44,399,775     

Revenue:
Government transfers for operating 20,036,798    27,673,480     
Sales and user charges 1,884,458  3,682,427   
Other revenue - 2,833,933 
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - 7,563,258 

21,921,256    41,753,098     

Expenses: 
General government 10,843,427    23,526,438     
Public housing operations 119,078     (9,823)      

10,962,505    23,516,615     

Annual surplus 10,958,751$       18,236,483$          

2019 2018
Salaries, wages and benefits 204,466$        1,882,951$         
Contracted and general services 10,768,211     21,762,881         
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities (10,172)  (127,867)         
Other - (1,350) 
Total expenses 10,962,505$   23,516,615$       
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27. Subsequent events

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic related to the COVID-19
virus. The event is causing significant market uncertainty and is expected to impact the carrying value of
assets, including but not limited to accounts receivable, investments, mortgages and notes receivable.
An estimate of its financial impact is not reasonably determinable at this time.

On April 26, 2020, the Municipality experienced a major flood event and declared a State of Local
Emergency. The event caused damage to some of the Municipality’s infrastructure in the Lower Townsite
area. There will be an expected impact to revenues and expenses from waiving certain sales and user
charges, licenses and permits, providing accommodation for evacuees and other flood response and
recovery activities that may not be covered by insurance or Provincial government disaster programs.
The Municipality is seeking support from other governments and partners. An estimate of the financial
impact is not reasonably determinable at this time.

28. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

29. Approval of financial statements
These financial statements were presented and approved by Council on May 27, 2020.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
General Statistical information

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Population (1) 111,687 111,687 114,673 103,880 125,032 
Number of dwelling units (2) 29,948 29,642 28,907 27,808 30,208 
Municipal Area (In Hectares) (3) 6,636,174             6,636,174             6,636,174             6,636,174             6,636,174             

Value of Building Permits - in thousands (4)
Residential 58,200 172,470 658,607 165,532 40,159 
Commercial 38,961 52,758 79,603 155,192 154,596 
Industrial 12,361 11,975 2,730 18,389 18,663 
Oil and Gas 13,363 13,448 35,808 75,836 134,972 
Institutional 3,408 47,507 49,447 44,755 69,148 

126,293 298,158 826,195 459,704 417,538 

Building Permits Issued (4)
Residential 493 718 2,066 985 683 
Commercial 169 144 192 145 202 
Industrial 19 18 16 31 51 
Oil and Gas 51 48 94 145 228 
Institutional 18 12 24 23 20 

750 940 2,392 1,329 1,184 

Housing Starts (5) 146 562 1,625 135 193 

Residential Municipal Tax Rate (6) 1.9926 0.9977 0.9502 1.7748 1.8110 

Consumer Price Index Change (Percentage) (7)
Alberta 1.8 2.4 1.6 1.1 1.1 
Canada 1.9 2.3 1.6 1.4 1.1 

Unemployment Rate (Percentage) (7)
Alberta 6.9 6.6 7.8 8.1 6.0 
Canada 5.7 5.8 6.3 7.0 6.9 

Full Time Equivalent Municipal Employees (8) 1,327 1,337 1,356 1,548 1,491 

NOTES:
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4) Building Permits data obtained from Statistics Canada.
(5) Housing Starts data per Canada Housing And Mortgage Corporation.
(6)
(7) Consumer Price Index and Unemployment Rate data obtained from Statistics Canada.
(8)

Population data for 2013-2015 and 2017-2019 is obtained from Alberta Municipal Affairs Annual Population Lists.  For 2016 the population data is obtained from 
the population projection presented and approved by Council on May 9, 2017 for the urban and rural service area population combined with the Conference 
Board of Canada project accommodations population estimate.
Number of dwelling units data obtained from Alberta Municipal Affairs Statistical Information Returns.
Municipal Hectares data obtained from Alberta Municipal Affairs Statistical Information Returns.

Residential tax rate data obtained from Alberta Municipal Affairs Statistical Information Returns.

Full time equivalent municipal employees data obtained from Alberta Municipal Affairs Statistical Information Returns.
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Statement of Financial Position

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 378,684,579$       112,728,560$       46,196,530$         493,562,011$       163,227,572$       
Restricted cash 15,675,259           15,004,737           34,328,895           33,184,270           31,001,122           
Taxes and grants in lieu receivable 9,372,072             10,122,011           7,223,492             16,441,062           5,427,979             
Trade and other receivables 23,065,520           73,555,495           54,985,899           74,914,066           42,241,824           
Inventories held for resale 541,325                1,590,805             3,189,881             3,259,162             2,418,937             
Investments 862,450,159         1,153,164,748      965,928,764         353,380,606         415,566,573         
Mortgages and notes receivable 6,359,124             6,976,641             7,024,397             7,995,349             8,113,772             

Total Financial Assets 1,296,148,038      1,373,142,997      1,118,877,858      982,736,526         667,997,779         

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 83,436,115           72,742,348           98,549,584           162,753,921         167,978,933         
Deposit liabilities 8,521,092             8,576,948             8,363,300             7,616,973             8,529,507             
Deferred revenue 74,134,911           91,102,365           139,687,518         138,183,406         128,394,895         
Employee benefit obligations 17,349,635           18,351,315           18,201,356           17,002,534           13,561,955           
Contaminated sites liability 1,928,561             1,839,866             652,740                992,826                974,221                
Provision for landfill closure and post-closure obligation 17,423,662           13,974,378           13,238,757           12,912,954           11,746,978           
Long-term debt 76,286,233           345,336,599         385,336,166         406,462,526         407,063,107         

Total Financial Liabilities 279,080,209         551,923,819         664,029,421         745,925,140         738,249,596         

Net Financial assets (debt) 1,017,067,829      821,219,178         454,848,437         236,811,386         (70,251,817)         

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets 4,302,598,396      4,216,459,520      4,172,621,654      4,065,556,907      4,030,487,056      
Consumable inventories 5,704,278             4,159,215             5,879,819             4,237,541             2,925,286             
Prepaid expenses 4,603,393             4,680,715             3,526,456             3,414,658             8,603,567             

Total Non-Financial Assets 4,312,906,067      4,225,299,450      4,182,027,929      4,073,209,106      4,042,015,909      

Accumulated Surplus 5,329,973,896$    5,046,518,628$    4,636,876,366$    4,310,020,492$    3,971,764,092$    
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Revenues by Source, Expenses by Function and Annual Surplus

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Revenues by Source:
Net taxes available for municipal purposes 657,278,601$       683,338,605$       730,399,396$       793,535,113$       677,951,624$       
Government transfers for operating 44,180,489           50,943,150           61,896,981           141,462,928         15,294,001           
Sales and user charges 63,817,902           60,960,237           80,725,961           70,447,832           83,006,210           
Sales to other governments 3,193,453             2,609,849             3,459,778             2,519,357             3,573,100             
Penalties and costs on taxes 4,372,602             5,290,963             2,800,444             922,491                1,821,763             
Licenses and permits 2,018,676             4,919,468             2,972,370             3,632,079             5,608,623             
Fines 2,647,260             3,603,273             4,963,888             3,213,676             3,782,007             
Franchise and concession contracts 8,184,926             7,875,171             7,802,627             6,860,033             8,165,601             
Returns on investments 31,342,868           23,944,476           18,464,996           6,354,218             11,580,363           
Rentals 19,614,508           19,984,121           19,491,253           20,835,402           24,131,749           
Developers' agreements and levies (expenses) 2,691,857             21,017,127           (2,138,881)           6,805,731             13,105,025           
Other 7,553,667             14,294,515           5,783,256             5,484,230             4,533,625             
Gain on disposal of assets 963,590                7,346,931             -                       -                       -                       

Total Revenues by Source 847,860,399         906,127,886         936,622,069         1,062,073,090      852,553,691         

Expenses by Function:
Council and other legislative 1,283,948             1,054,658             1,332,859             1,791,239             1,477,773             
General administration 132,778,825         96,840,030           190,761,714         265,482,277         124,073,696         
Other general government 34,984,313           45,422,872           20,678,425           14,872,378           13,259,406           
Police 34,508,288           35,584,449           37,504,376           40,389,237           38,616,213           
Fire 32,315,684           32,522,008           35,084,990           35,021,638           32,247,846           
Disaster and emergency measures 690,677                1,443,045             3,585,499             4,901,989             841,232                
Ambulance and first aid 11,041,296           8,322,175             8,585,914             9,252,332             9,782,479             
Bylaws enforcement 6,480,401             8,913,344             10,124,772           9,155,876             8,594,968             
Common and equipment pool 23,403,506           24,086,672           28,189,689           24,113,380           27,693,558           
Roads, streets, walks, lighting 58,479,680           53,805,227           48,151,323           64,602,933           55,174,919           
Public transport 28,861,839           29,460,935           26,465,288           34,792,577           32,587,083           
Storm sewers and drainage 4,102,136             3,718,164             3,921,113             2,507,336             2,935,775             
Water supply and distribution 42,476,013           41,205,462           67,796,299           40,800,582           38,358,993           
Wastewater treatment and disposal 36,787,714           36,606,600           19,731,540           33,993,102           33,239,528           
Waste management 18,735,066           15,947,981           16,357,047           16,692,619           18,180,513           
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Revenue by Source, Expense by Function and Annual Surplus (continued)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Family and community support 9,173,599             10,648,221           16,335,404           12,674,982           15,122,693           
Cemeteries and crematoriums 427,238                851,135                251,963                1,550,457             756,379                
Land use planning, zoning and development 10,561,638           11,431,675           11,771,318           12,116,730           11,412,835           
Public housing operations 32,618,483           33,068,050           33,392,076           48,965,411           34,940,687           
Land, housing and building rentals 4,321,265             4,811,075             7,100,646             8,277,344             8,553,777             
Recreation boards 34,751                  40,777                  38,090                  36,098                  383,486                
Parks and recreation 99,518,727           84,310,172           96,725,018           86,467,976           98,757,820           
Culture:  libraries, museums, halls 6,103,868             5,800,355             5,878,964             6,733,575             9,486,934             

Total Expenses by Function 629,688,955         585,895,082         689,764,327         775,192,068         616,478,593         

Annual surplus before other 218,171,444         320,232,804         246,857,742         286,881,022         236,075,098         
Other:

Contributions of tangible capital assets 3,102,354             6,167,889             29,866,617           -                       44,431,178           
Government transfers for capital 62,181,470           83,241,569           50,131,515           51,375,378           78,440,810           

Annual surplus 283,455,268         409,642,262         326,855,874         338,256,400         358,947,086         

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 5,046,518,628      4,636,876,366      4,310,020,492      3,971,764,092      3,612,817,006      

Accumulated surplus, end of year 5,329,973,896$    5,046,518,628$    4,636,876,366$    4,310,020,492$    3,971,764,092$    
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Expenses by Object

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Salaries, wages and benefits 259,181,834$       253,942,114$       272,410,877$       289,403,554$       257,417,400$       
Contracted and general services 110,366,631         118,948,792         128,894,539         229,883,686         122,881,529         
Purchases from other governments 21,938,952           23,641,339           24,111,442           24,643,615           23,789,071           
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities 49,358,510           46,186,918           42,720,321           51,463,470           59,013,940           
Provision for allowances 4,830,830             (2,568,892)           22,393,685           3,798,743             2,061,493             
Transfers to local boards and agencies 449,514                71,500                  143,000                893,000                660,000                
Transfers to individuals and organizations 14,540,310           8,173,726             17,155,982           14,144,847           20,326,014           
Bank charges and short-term interest 469,162                458,205                468,512                392,875                505,266                
Interest on long-term debt 14,296,998           16,499,082           16,995,368           17,712,612           18,052,699           
Other 29,861,535           196,176                45,056,080           17,904,047           17,078,854           
Amortization of tangible capital assets 124,099,235         120,346,122         116,200,121         110,521,545         88,348,612           

295,444                -                       1,000,000             -                       -                       
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets -                       -                       2,214,400             14,430,074           6,343,715             

Total Expenses by Object 629,688,955$       585,895,082$       689,764,327$       775,192,068$       616,478,593$       

Valuation loss on real property inventory and
  mortgages receivable
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Tax Collection

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Current Levy 736,302,715$       762,324,467$       804,246,717$       872,961,861$       754,872,921$       

Taxes Receivable
Current 11,677,672           7,206,128             15,127,670           15,131,088           4,331,972             
In arrears for one year or more 15,079,043           13,306,157           9,545,947             1,428,756             1,217,629             

Total Taxes Receivable 26,756,715$         20,512,285$         24,673,617$         16,559,844$         5,549,601$           

Taxes Outstanding, Before Allowance (Percentage)
Current 1.59% 0.95% 1.88% 1.73% 0.57%
In arrears for one year or more 2.05% 1.75% 1.19% 0.16% 0.16%
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Taxation, Assessment and Requisitions

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Taxation Assessment (1)
Municipal Residential 12,043,373,458$    12,535,460,001$    14,575,872,683$    15,418,885,886$    15,165,193,338$    
Municipal Non Residential 9,133,255,096        9,148,141,746        9,431,217,970        8,922,395,899        8,235,764,544        
Machinery and Equipment 35,809,607,684      32,229,084,849      34,866,810,053      29,827,543,264      26,588,585,873      
Linear 3,186,761,480        2,981,845,830        3,176,764,050        3,038,928,580        2,804,491,930        
Railway 2,633,000               -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total Taxation Assessment 60,175,630,718$    56,894,532,426$    62,050,664,756$    57,207,753,629$    52,794,035,685$    

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Taxation:
Real property taxes 733,516,194$         759,071,358$         802,046,632$         871,662,637$         752,897,865$         
Government in lieu of property taxes 1,091,187               1,273,569               729,099                  693,798                  1,187,001               
Special assessments and local improvement taxes 256,000                  328,123                  330,111                  331,207                  356,341                  
Well drilling 1,439,334               1,651,417               1,140,875               274,219                  431,714                  

Total Taxation 736,302,715           762,324,467           804,246,717           872,961,861           754,872,921           

Requisitions:
Designated Industrial Properties 3,665,797               1,509,106               -                          -                          -                          
Alberta School Foundation Fund 69,990,191             71,371,590             67,952,318             72,989,785             70,918,855             
School boards 5,368,126               6,105,166               5,895,003               6,436,963               6,002,442               

Total Requisitions 79,024,114             78,985,862             73,847,321             79,426,748             76,921,297             

Net taxes available for municipal purposes 657,278,601$         683,338,605$         730,399,396$         793,535,113$         677,951,624$         
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Total Long Term Debt and Long Term Debt Servicing Limits

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Long Term Debt
Municipal debt:

Debentures supported by general tax levies -$                     162,686,383$       170,145,395$       179,694,147$       178,123,973$       
Debentures supported by utility rates -                       102,735,023         112,576,947         120,144,331         123,116,843         

Total Municipal Debt -                       265,421,406         282,722,342         299,838,478         301,240,816         

Controlled organizations debt:
Demand loans - capital -                       -                       -                       -                       23,907,701           
Long-term debt 76,286,233           79,915,193           102,613,824         106,624,048         81,914,590           

Total Controlled Organizations Debt 76,286,233           79,915,193           102,613,824         106,624,048         105,822,291         

Total Long Term Debt 76,286,233$         345,336,599$       385,336,166$       406,462,526$       407,063,107$       

Municipal Debt per Capita
Debentures supported by general tax levies -$                     1,457$                  1,484$                  1,730$                  1,425$                  
Debentures supported by utility rates -                       920                       982                       1,157                    985                       

Total Municipal Debt per Capita -$                     2,377$                  2,466$                  2,887$                  2,410$                  

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total Long Term Debt Limits

Maximum allowable debt 1,598,275,880$    1,731,027,690$    1,774,882,110$    2,019,030,524$    1,593,357,182$    
Total municipal debt -                       265,421,406         282,722,342         299,838,478         301,240,816         

Amount of Total Long Term Debt Limit Available 1,598,275,880$    1,465,606,284$    1,492,159,768$    1,719,192,046$    1,292,116,366$    
Percentage of long term debt limit used 0.00% 15.33% 15.93% 14.85% 18.91%

Total Long Term Debt Servicing Limits
Maximum allowable debt service 279,698,279$       302,929,846$       310,604,369$       353,330,342$       278,837,507$       
Annual payments on existing municipal debt -                       29,457,835           30,038,241           30,673,005           29,757,311           

Amount of Service on Long Term Debt Limit Available 279,698,279$       273,472,011$       280,566,128$       322,657,337$       249,080,196$       
Percentage of service on long term debt used 0.00% 9.72% 9.67% 8.68% 10.67%
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Acquistions of Tangible Capital Assets

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Land 3,791,150$           8,431,788$           7,537,085$           11,864,649$         16,022,345$         
Land Improvements 15,527,855           26,752,908           19,390,282           62,534,740           68,517,602           
Buildings and Improvements 28,714,824           54,190,510           28,778,452           94,075,642           215,884,217         
Engineered Structures 117,913,989         173,682,288         239,659,597         240,023,967         208,749,585         
Machinery and Equipment 6,289,950             2,998,842             13,835,169           21,299,146           24,319,664           
Vehicles 6,225,590             3,536,585             2,374,460             14,901,984           5,761,237             
Assets Under Construction 31,871,731           (103,968,223)       (82,100,541)         (278,690,452)       (112,795,493)       

Total Tangible Capital Asset Acquisitions 210,335,089$       165,624,698$       229,474,504$       166,009,676$       426,459,157$       
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REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WOOD BUFFALO
Government Transfers

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 - 2019
(unaudited)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Transfers for Operating:
Conditional share cost agreements and grants
- Federal Government 286,337$              362,484$              82,106$  4,702$  181,256$              
- Provincial Government 43,894,152           50,580,666           61,814,875           141,458,226         15,112,745           
Total government transfers for operating 44,180,489           50,943,150           61,896,981           141,462,928         15,294,001           

Transfers for Capital
Conditional shared cost agreements and grants
- Federal Government 11,601,118           2,386,712             - - - 
- Provincial Government 50,580,352           80,854,857           50,131,515           51,375,378           78,440,810           
Total government transfers for capital 62,181,470           83,241,569           50,131,515           51,375,378           78,440,810           

Total government transfers 106,361,959$       134,184,719$       112,028,496$       192,838,306$       93,734,811$         

75



For inquiries on the 2019 Annual Financial Report, 
please direct them 

By mail: 
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo 

Financial Services 
3rd Floor Jubilee Building 

9909 Franklin Avenue 
Fort McMurray, AB 
Canada T9K 2K4 

By email: 
Financial.Services@rmwb.ca 

By phone: 
780-792-5959

For more information about the  
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo, 

visit rmwb.ca 


	Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo
	Alberta, Canada
	2019 Annual Financial Report
	For the year ended December 31, 2019
	This Annual Report has been prepared and compiled by the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Financial Services Department in cooperation with all municipal departments and controlled entities.

	Information on the
	Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo
	is available via the internet at
	www.rmwb.ca
	For the year ended December 31, 2019
	June 25, 2020



